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Our vision is science unlimited

We do this by powering scientific 
innovation for our partners across 
the life sciences with novel 
technology solutions. 

Through our people and values  
we are driven by innovation, 
integrity and precision to remove 
the scientific barriers to our  
clients’ success.
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Innovation
See how the Optimer® platform 
is breaking down scientific 
barriers across multiple life 
science sectors. 

Precision
Discover how Optimer® 
technology is enabling our 
partners across bioprocessing, 
diagnostics and therapeutics. 

pg 02

pg 22

Driven
Read how our strategy is 
helping meet and exceed 
our ambitious targets.

pg 28

Read our case studies

Read our Chief  
Executive Officer's 
statement 
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Solutions developed

Aptamer Group develops custom affinity binders through 
its proprietary Optimer® platform to enable new 
approaches in therapeutics, diagnostics, and research 
applications. We strive to deliver transformational 
solutions that meet the needs of life science researchers 
and developers using our proprietary Optimer® platform.

We operate across three divisions:

Aptamer Diagnostics uses the 
Group’s technology to support 
the development of diagnostic 
platforms – for example, in 
proteomics, lateral flow devices, 
biosensors and immunoassays, 
such as ELISA. These types 
of diagnostic platforms have 
applications across human 
health, environmental services 
and in the agri-food sector. 

Aptamer Therapeutics provides 
contract research services in 
the field of therapeutics, using 
its technology and experience 
to develop Optimer®-drug 
conjugates, Optimer®-enabled 
gene therapies and Optimer® 
agonists and antagonists. 

Aptamer Solutions 
provides contract research 
services focusing on the 
custom development of 
oligonucleotide aptamers 
and Optimer® binders for 
customers, using the Group’s 
proprietary high-throughput 
platform technology. 
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Optimer® binders are oligonucleotide affinity 
ligands that can function as complementary to, or 
as an alternative for, antibodies. These limitations 
of antibodies are recognised by the market but no 
alternative is readily available. Optimer® binders are 
offering new solutions within the global antibody market, 
currently worth over $145 billion1, delivering solutions to 
bioprocessing, diagnostic and pharmaceutical scientists.

What is an aptamer?
An aptamer is a short, single-stranded DNA 
or RNA (ssDNA or ssRNA) molecule that can 
selectively bind to a specific target.

A full-length aptamer (left) contains the target binding 
region (dark) and unnecessary sequences. 

What is an Optimer®?
Removal of these unnecessary sequences leaves only the 
Optimer® (centre). Next-generation Optimer® binders 
with protein-like properties are in development (right).

42
Partners in 12 countries 
globally in 2022

49
Employees as at  
30 June 2022

£10.8m
Raised at AIM IPO

152%
Revenue growth from  
2021 to £4.0 million

75%
Percentage of top 20 
pharma companies we 
have served

“ The past year has been 
transformational for Aptamer 
Group and I’m extremely proud of 
everything we’ve achieved in our 
maiden year as a listed company.” 
Dr Arron Tolley
CEO of Aptamer Group

1  Market Data Forecast. Global Antibodies Market Size, Share, Trends, COVID-19 
Impact & Growth Analysis Report – Segmented By Product Type, Indication, End User, 
Application and Region – Industry Forecast (2022 to 2027) Report ID: 1112. (2022)

Aptamer optimer ® optimer ®+
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Read more about the aptamer market on pages 10 to 11.

$145bn+
Estimated global  
antibody market1

Optimised affinity binders to 
enable the life science industry 

Broader target applicability
Lab-based isolation of aptamers enables the pursuit 
of targets that are not possible with antibodies e.g. 
whole tissues, toxins etc.

Tuneable selectivity
Aptamer isolation processes are tailored to yield the 
required target specificity. Such factors cannot be 
incorporated into traditional antibody generation.

Speed of discovery
Automated high-throughput aptamer isolation 
can be achieved in as little as 17 days. Other binder 
technologies typically take 4 – 18 months.

Scalable, cost-effective production
Chemical synthesis is easier and cheaper  
to scale up, leading to significant savings  
in large-scale manufacture.

Synthetic manufacture  
allows increased consistency
Well-established chemical manufacturing methods 
are more reliable and give lower batch-to-batch 
variability than cell-based antibody manufacture.

Despite the limitations of antibody technology, the 
market was estimated to be worth in excess of $145 
billion in 2021 and is expected to reach $248.9 billion 
by 20271. Driven by the growing understanding of the 
advantages of aptamers over antibodies, the aptamer 
market is set to grow rapidly over the next five to ten 
years into a multi-billion-dollar worldwide market.

Disruptive 
technology
Our proprietary aptamers and Optimer® 
binders are developed to solve complex 
problems facing the biotech and 
pharmaceutical industries. 

The chemical processes used to manufacture 
aptamers overcome the issues of production, 
functionalisation and batch-to-batch variability 
associated with many other affinity binders. 

1  Market Data Forecast. Global Antibodies Market Size, Share, Trends, COVID-19 Impact & Growth Analysis Report – Segmented By Product 
Type, Indication, End User, Application and Region – Industry Forecast (2022 to 2027) Report ID: 1112. (2022) 

Aptamers can be used alongside, or in place of, 
antibodies in many assay formats, offering a range  
of commercial benefits over alternative affinity 
binders, including:
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Specific, stable 
and automated 
competitive 
advantages
Our proprietary Optimer® binders 
have a more stable structure than 
the parental aptamers, giving rise 
to improved binding properties. 

An Optimer® binder is the minimal aptamer sequence 
that retains the ability to bind to the target. This smaller 
size offers many advantages, including:

Increased tissue penetration for  
targeted therapeutics 

Interactions are closer to sensor surfaces 
giving better response in biosensors

Greater yield during synthesis

More cost-effective production

112
targets processed 
simultaneously

The Optimer® platform is an automated, high-
throughput platform that enables the discovery of 
binders to three key target types: 

 — Small molecules

 — Proteins and peptides

 — Cells, viruses, or tissues

These three parallel Optimer® discovery processes 
are tailored to the specific target type, providing a key 
point of differentiation to competitors, who typically 
use a 'one-size-fits-all' discovery approach.

Aptamer’s high-throughput systems only require 
a small team of scientists to isolate the aptamers 
against up to 112 targets simultaneously. This can be 
conducted in as little as 17 working days, saving both 
time and money. 
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75%
Percentage of top 20 
pharma companies 
we have served

Blue chip  
customer base
Aptamer is proud to have an  
existing blue-chip customer base. 

The Group has worked with 75% of the  
world’s top 20 pharmaceutical companies,  
as well as SMEs, large regional organisations, 
universities and charities. 
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IP Portfolio
Aptamer has a strong Intellectual  
Property (IP) position. 

In most cases, the Group retains ownership of the 
intellectual property in relation to the aptamers 
and Optimer® binders developed for our customers 
and therefore we retain the potential for significant 
ongoing royalty and licence fee income.

We own approximately 75 patent rights in various 
territories, including a novel aptamer-based diagnostic 
platform, aptamer molecules against specific targets 
of commercial interest, and novel chemistries.

c.75
patent rights owned

50+
collective years experience

Expert and 
growing team
Aptamer has focussed on hiring 
a highly skilled and experienced 
team of scientists. Strong growth has 
continued since the IPO in December 
2021 and in October 2022 the Group 
completed its planned relocation to 
larger purpose-built laboratories.

The Aptamer Group team is led by co-founders 
Dr Arron Tolley (Chief Executive Officer, Director 
and member of the Scientific Advisory Board) and 
Dr David Bunka (Chief Technical Officer, Director 
and member of the Scientific Advisory Board), who 
between them have 35 years of aptamer-related 
experience. They hold PhDs in Structural & Molecular 
Biology and Molecular Biology, respectively. 

In June, Aptamer welcomed Jenny Cutler as 
Interim Chief Financial Officer. With over 20 years 
of finance leadership experience and experience 
at both AIM and Main listed businesses, she is 
the ideal individual to fulfil this role, whilst the 
search for a permanent CFO continues. Prior to this, 
further expansion to the management team took 
place with the appointment of Alastair Fleming 
as Chief Operations Officer. Together, these key 
appointments have broadened the skillset and 
experience of the management team, positioning  
the Group for future growth.
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Delivery continued

“The Group has the skills and expertise to deliver 
its exciting growth strategy and to maintain its 
leadership position in the provision of aptamer 
discovery selection services and the development 
of aptamer-based reagents.”

Ch
ai

rm
an

’s
 s

ta
te

m
en

t

Dr Ian Gilham 
Non-Executive Chairman

Reflecting on progress since the IPO
The past financial year has been characterised by 
strong growth across the Group, with the major 
inflection point in December 2021, when the business 
started life as a public company on the AIM market 
of the London Stock Exchange. The listing raised 
gross proceeds of £10.8 million, providing a stable 
funding platform to allow our technology to be truly 
disruptive in the next-generation affinity ligand 
market. The funds raised, in challenging market 
conditions, have provided the resources to increase 
capacity, with the aim of meeting the increasing 
demand for our Optimer® binders. We are grateful to 
our existing shareholders and those who invested at 
the IPO, who are enabling the next steps for Aptamer 
as it grows its client base.

Scaling up is a key focus for the business, operationally 
and in terms of personnel. Good progress has been 
made on expanding automation systems, allowing 
high-volume programmes to be delivered at speed, as 
well as increasing capacity more broadly. Investment 
in our technology, team and infrastructure over the 
year has enabled increased translation of developed 
Optimer® binders to downstream applications 
and will continue to improve our ability to take 
affinity ligand market share both from providers 
of more traditional antibody solutions and other 
antibody-alternative technologies. This investment 
is supported by a move to larger premises, with more 
laboratory and office space, which was completed 
post-year end in October.
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Whilst the funds raised at IPO to grow the business 
are being deployed, the Group has continued to 
deliver increased revenue and win new projects. 
Aptamers are a disruptive technology, and within 
each of our three business units we are signing 
contracts with partners ranging from big pharma 
to biotech companies, in instances where antibody 
technology would otherwise be typically used or no 
prior solutions have been available.

It is clear that the market for antibody alternatives 
is developing rapidly, driven by the increasing 
awareness of the limitation of antibodies, 50-60% 
of which reportedly fail to meet their internal 
validation standards1. Where protein-based ligands, 
such as antibodies, can be associated with production 
and functionalisation issues, batch-to-batch variability 
and ethical concerns relating to the use of animals, 
aptamers and optimers can often overcome these 
problems, offering many commercial benefits. Due to 
these favourable attributes, the aptamer market is set 
to expand rapidly over the next five to ten years into a 
multi-billion-dollar worldwide market that is forecast 
to grow at 18-28% per annum2.

Looking more specifically at our Optimer® 
platform, it offers key advantages over antibodies, 
including improved stability, tissue penetration 
and target specificity, as well as reliable 
manufacturing characteristics, reduced animal 
use and accelerated speed of discovery through  
high-throughput automation.

During the financial year, the Group has made 
excellent progress across all aspects of its 
strategic growth plan and it continues to add to 
its technological base. Specifically, we have three 
strategic pillars for growth to support the future 
expansion and development of the Group to 
ensure it is positioned for success. 

In Research & Development, work on the launch 
of our new Optimer®+ platform continues at pace. 
Once integrated, this next generation of aptamers 
should broaden potential applications and help 
strengthen Aptamer’s differentiation within the 
affinity ligand market. Additionally, Aptamer is 
beginning to build key exemplification data to enable 
the development of tools for the targeted delivery 
of drug molecules for use in the therapeutics space. 

Board and Governance
It has been a privilege to chair the Board since 
December 2021 and I want to share my thanks 
to former Chairman Steve Hull and the pre-IPO 
Board for laying the foundation for the successful 
2021 IPO. Angela Hildreth joined the Board in 
the first half of the financial year, who sits on 
the Remuneration Committee and is serving as 
Chair of the Audit Committee, with significant AIM 
experience in financial, strategic and operational roles. 
This adds to the expertise of fellow Non-Executive 
Director, Dr John Richards, who sits on the Audit and 
Remuneration Committees, and brings deep industry 
and scientific expertise. 

As a publicly listed company we are committed 
to running our business in line with best practice 
environmental, social and governance standards and 
the QCA Code. Further details of this can be found in 
the governance section on pages 42 to 54.

Outlook
A key next step to increase Aptamer’s capacity was 
completed post year end in October as we moved in to 
a new 18,000 sq ft headquarters within York Science 
Park. This will provide the Group with significantly 
increased laboratory space and room for additional 
equipment to extend existing projects and deliver new 
workstreams at higher levels of automation. It will 
also enable further recruitment across the Group. 
Business continued as usual during the transition 
to our new location.

Our focus remains on strengthening existing and 
building new partnerships across our business units, 
developing exemplification data to support key 
applications, like drug delivery, and advancing the 
technology platforms to ensure we remain a leader 
within the aptamer development space. 

After a transformational year for Aptamer, the 
Board and I would personally like to extend our 
thanks to all our employees for their continued hard 
work and dedication before, during and after the 
IPO. The successful listing, which was supported 
by new and existing shareholders to whom we are 
grateful, marked the start of a new phase in the 
Group’s history whilst retaining an innovative, 
scientific and entrepreneurial focus at its heart. 

Dr Ian Gilham
Non-Executive Chairman
17 October 2022

1 Bradbury & Pluckthun. Standardize antibodies used in research. Nature. 518:27-29 (2015) 
 Gray et al. Animal-free alternatives and the antibody iceberg. Nat. Biotechnology. 38:1234–1239 (2020)

2  Acumen Research & Consulting. (2022). Aptamers Market Analysis - Global Industry Size, Share, Trends and Forecast 2022 – 2030.  
https://www.acumenresearchandconsulting.com/aptamers-market

  Market Research Future. (2022). Aptamers Market by Type (Nucleic Acid and Peptide Aptamers), Application (Diagnostics, Therapeutics 
Development), Technology (Selex, X-aptamer and MARAS technique), End Users (Biotechnology and Pharmaceutical Companies) –  
Forecast till 2030. https://www.marketresearchfuture.com/reports/aptamers-market-6630

  Technavio. (2021). Aptamers Market by Application and Geography - Forecast and Analysis 2022-2026.  
https://www.technavio.com/report/aptamers-market-industry-analysis
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The target binding and production characteristics of Optimer® 
binders positions them as a disruptive technology in the  
well-established global antibody market.

Large and growing 
antibody market
The well-established global antibody 
market is serviced by approximately 
400 companies worldwide and its value 
is currently estimated at $145.7 billion 
per annum (2021)1. 

It is expected to grow at approximately 11.31% (CAGR) to 
$248.9 billion by 20271. Of this, the research antibodies 
market was valued at $13.1 billion per annum (2021)2.

However, whilst it is growing rapidly, it is not without 
its challenges. Reports suggest that between 50-60% 
of research antibodies fail to meet their internal 
research standards3, implying a current market 
potential of ~$6.5 billion, without encroaching on 
the successful antibody market.

In addition, antibodies are costly to manufacture, 
transport and store. Coupled with the expensive, 
unethical, and increased scrutiny of animals used in 
antibody-based research, the demand for alternative, 
synthetic binder technologies is high. 

Alternative binding 
technologies offer distinct 
advantages over antibodies
Alternative binding approaches, such 
as the disruptive technologies used 
by Aptamer Group, address many of 
the challenges faced in the research 
antibody market in terms of production, 
manufacture, supply and ethics. 

Aptamer Group develops Optimer® binders, next-
generation aptamer molecules that function as an 
antibody alternative. Optimer® binders are engineered 
to address many of the issues found with alternative 
affinity binders, such as antibodies, and offer new, 
innovative solutions to bioprocessing, diagnostic 
and pharmaceutical scientists.

Aptamers are a disruptive technology, providing a 
next-generation affinity ligand option in the well-
established global antibody market. The aptamer 
market is set to expand rapidly over the next five to 
ten years into a multi-billion-dollar worldwide market 
and is forecast to grow at 18-28% per annum4. 

Increased investment in the sector has helped drive 
market growth and highlighted the benefits of aptamers 
versus antibodies. Investment in the aptamer market 
is predicted to increase as their superiority is more 
widely recognised and aptamer technology becomes 
increasingly adopted as an alternative to antibodies. 

In addition, the rising awareness of diseases, 
such as COVID-19, that require rapid affinity ligand 
development to support diagnostics, vaccines and 
medicines, as well as an increasing demand for aptamer-
based diagnostics and therapeutics, will all further aid 
the growth of the market.

1  Market Data Forecast. Global Antibodies Market Size, Share, Trends, COVID-19 Impact & Growth Analysis Report – Segmented By Product 
Type, Indication, End User, Application and Region - Industry Forecast (2022 to 2027) Report ID: 1112. (2022)

2  Research and Markets. Global Research Antibodies Market (2021-2026) by Product, End-user, Geography, Competitive Analysis and the 
Impact of Covid-19 with Ansoff Analysis. Report ID: 5544115. (2021)

3  Bradbury & Pluckthun. Standardize antibodies used in research. Nature. 518:27-29 (2015) Gray et al. Animal-free alternatives and  
the antibody iceberg. Nat. Biotechnology. 38:1234–1239 (2020)

4  Acumen Research & Consulting. (2022). Aptamers Market Analysis – Global Industry Size, Share, Trends and Forecast 2022 – 2030.  
https://www.acumenresearchandconsulting.com/aptamers-market

  Market Research Future. (2022). Aptamers Market by Type (Nucleic Acid and Peptide Aptamers), Application (Diagnostics, Therapeutics 
Development), Technology (Selex, X-aptamer and MARAS technique), End Users (Biotechnology and Pharmaceutical Companies) 
– Forecast till 2030. https://www.marketresearchfuture.com/reports/aptamers-market-6630

  Technavio. (2021). Aptamers Market by Application and Geography – Forecast and Analysis 2022-2026. https://www.technavio.com 
/report/aptamers-market-industry-analysis
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Global market opportunities
The market in which Aptamer Group 
operates is global. 

The USA and Europe are the current major markets for the 
Group, with a focus on increasing our presence across the 
APAC region. In addition to these territories, Aptamer Group 
is forming collaborations with academia, and diagnostic and 
pharmaceutical companies, to develop innovative products 
and platforms worldwide.

Competition
The competitive landscape includes 
companies in direct competition with 
Aptamer Group, using their own aptamer 
platforms and those that use non-aptamer-
based binder technologies. Their existence 
validates the market opportunity in this field.

Aptamer Group views its competition as those companies 
providing a commercial service offering for the development 
of affinity binders or collaborating to develop affinity-based 
diagnostic and therapeutic applications. There are several 
other companies that operate in the aptamer space and are 
not direct competitors of Aptamer Group; these companies 
have often developed aptamer platforms with specific 
therapeutic or diagnostic projects in mind and do not 
have a commercial service offering.

18–28%
Predicted growth 
in aptamer market 
over 5–10 years4

Emerging marketsExisting markets
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What we do

Contract  
research services

 — Generating revenues
 — Bioprocessing (affinity purification)
 — CMC / QC release reagents
 — Research reagents
 — Horizon scanning

Description 

Providing contract research 
services focusing on the 
custom development of 
oligonucleotide aptamers 
and Optimer® binders for 
customers, using the Group’s 
proprietary high throughput 
platform technology.

The Group’s technology is used 
by customers to support the 
development of diagnostic 
platforms with applications 
across human health, 
environmental services and in 
the agri-food sector.

Providing contract research 
services in the field of 
therapeutics, using its 
technology and experience 
to develop Optimer®-drug 
conjugates, Optimer®- 
enabled gene therapies  
and Optimer® agonists  
and antagonists.

Enabling  
diagnostics

 — Lateral flow devices (LFD)
 — Biosensor development
 — Immunoassays (ELISA, flow cytometry/

FACS etc)
 — Applications across human health, 

environmental and agri-food

Enabling  
therapeutics

 — Optimer®-drug conjugate (ODC)
 — Optimer®-enabled delivery  

of gene therapies
 — Optimer® agonists/antagonists

Aptamer’s business model is to provide contract research services on 
a fee-for-service basis in addition to longer-term upside potential from 
ongoing royalty and licensing revenues where the Group’s binders are 
taken forward by customers into commercial applications.
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Market size

$13.1 
billion1

Global research  
antibody market  
valuation in 2021

$20.8 
billion2

Global diagnostic  
speciality antibodies  
market valuation  
in 2021

$126.7 
billion3

Global antibody 
therapeutics market 
valuation in 2021

Revenue model

Fee-for-service  
and licensing model

 — Early-stage revenue
 — No exposure to customers’ R&D risk
 — Retention of IP to lock in downstream value

Fee-for-service, royalties 
and licensing fee

 — IP transfer/success fees
 — Revenue layers-up
 — Very high margin licence and royalty
 — 1–2 years conversion timeframe

Fee-for-service, royalties 
and licensing fee

 — IP transfer/success fees
 — Revenue layers-up
 — Very high margin licence fees
 — 2–3 years conversion timeframe

Aptamer technology is highly 
flexible and adaptable, 
and is being used broadly 
in a number of verticals as 
illustrated below:

Research reagents

Bioprocessing tools and 
diagnostic reagents have a  
faster route to market.

Enabling therapeutics 
programmes offers  
high long-term value.

Aptamer’s unique platform technology drives three business 
models generating revenue in the near term, with potential for 
substantial value creation in the longer term.

Bioprocess

Diagnostics

Therapeutics

1  Research and Markets. Global Research Antibodies Market (2021-2026) by Product, End-user, Geography, Competitive Analysis and the Impact of Covid-19 with Ansoff 
Analysis. Report ID: 5544115. (2021)

2  Report Linker. Diagnostic Specialty Antibodies Market Research Report by Antibody, APplication, End User, Region - Global Forecast to 2027 - Cumulative Impact 
of COVID-19. Report ID: 6083571 (2022)

3  BCC Publishing. Antibody Drugs: Technologies and Global Markets. Report ID: BIO016L (2021)
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As part of our long-term growth 
strategy, we will be pursuing 
the development of therapeutics 
based on our technology platform.

“ Our Optimer® platform delivers 
next-generation aptamer tools that 
enable researchers and developers 
across the life sciences spectrum.”
Dr David Bunka 
Chief Technical Officer
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The Optimer® platform
Aptamer Group’s proprietary Optimer® platform enables the discovery and development of 
oligonucleotide binders to a broad target range. The platform consists of three parallel discovery 
processes tuned for specific target types: 

– Small molecules

– Proteins and peptides

– Cells, virions, and tissues
Using specific processes for each target type increases the success in discovery for each project, 
versus the ‘one-size-fits-all’ approach adopted by many of the Group’s competitors. 

Target feasibility assessment

In-house validation

Discovery processes can be used in isolation for 
specific target types or sequentially for increased 

performance validation

Small molecules

 — Target-free solution

 — Discovery in end-use  
buffer/matrix

 — Inclusion of +ve and -ve 
targets for specificity

Proteins and peptides

 — Immobilised target with 
multiple chemistries

 — Discover in end-use  
buffer/matrix

 — Inclusion of +ve and -ve 
targets for specificity

Cells, virions, tissues

 — Compatible with fixed and  
live simple targets

 — Discover in end-use  
buffer/matrix

 — Inclusion of +ve and -ve 
targets for specificity

 — Hypothesis-free discovery 
to unknown cell phenotype 
biomarkers

Optimer® 
oligonucleotide  
library

Final Optimer®  
binder

Optimer® 
trimming =

size
manufacturability
specificity
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Following discovery, the selected aptamer sequence is truncated to the minimal fragment while ensuring it 
delivers the required performance. This process produces a smaller Optimer® binder resulting in a number of 
performance and manufacturing benefits.

Optimer® key benefits
 — Increased stability

 — Increased affinity

 — Increased tissue penetration

 — Increased access to target epitopes

 — Improved manufacturing yields

 — Increased cost-efficiency in production

Each stage of the Optimer® discovery and 
development process is uniquely tailored to our 
customer needs to ensure the identification of a fit-
for-purpose binder. 

 — The best Optimer® library is selected according  
to the target type and end application.

 — Optimer® discovery processes are customised 
based on relevant assay conditions, positive 
and negative targets for selection and counter-
selection, binder selection with tuneable kinetics 
and according to application performance,  
use of the best discovery processes, and 
integration of specific functional assays  
into the discovery process. 

 — Post discovery, each Optimer® binder is  
optimised for stability and manufacturability  
and is functionalised for full platform 
compatibility, all with the aim of maximising  
their translational potential. 

Performance and manufacturing benefits

Optimer®+
In December 2020, we acquired the 
patent rights to a novel oligonucleotide 
technology platform, Optimer®+. These 
nucleotide building blocks carry protein-
like side chains, which, when incorporated 
into aptamers, deliver more protein-like 
properties on the resulting binders. This 
technology bridges the gap between nucleic 
acid aptamers and other affinity ligands, 
increasing the size of our addressable market 
by broadening the range of targets that can 
be addressed by our novel aptamers.

The Optimer® platform powers each of the three 
business units, generating Optimer® binders that 
can be used as complementary to, or in place of, 
antibodies in a range of diverse applications.

Aptamer optimer ®
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Aptamer Solutions uses the automated, 
high-throughput Optimer® platform 
to provide contract research services 
focusing on the custom development of 
oligonucleotide aptamers and Optimer® 
binders. Customers use these bespoke 
tools as research reagents, bioprocessing 
ligands (e.g., purification reagents) and 
critical reagents (e.g., batch release tools).

Optimer® binders are developed with customer-specific 
targets and end-use applications in mind, including:

 — Research tools

 — Proteomics

 — Quality control analysis reagents

 — Drug metabolism and pharmacokinetics assays

 — Protein purification reagents

Optimer® binders are ethically compliant due to the 
in vitro discovery and development processes and 
offer tuneable target binding which can be critical for 
improving the functional yield of fragile proteins in 
bioprocessing applications. 

Revenues are generated on a fee-for-service basis with 
the potential for licence fee income through retained 
intellectual property. Aptamer Solutions provides 
services to a broad range of customers, which gives us 
an overview of growing demand in particular areas of 
scientific development and of opportunities we should 
be targeting. Consequently, Aptamer Solutions also 
acts as a "Horizon Scanning" platform for our Group.
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Our technology is used by customers 
to develop diagnostic platforms – for 
example, in proteomics, lateral flow 
devices, biosensors and immunoassays. 
These types of diagnostic platforms 
have applications across human health, 
environmental services and in the  
agri-food sector.

The sensitivity of a diagnostic test relies on high-
performance binding reagents and the capabilities of 
the Optimer® platform can be tuned to deliver reagents 
suitable for diagnostic use. These reagents are central to 
a test’s performance. Optimer® binders are more likely 
to successfully integrate into a commercially viable 
diagnostic platform compared to traditionally derived 
binders, such as antibodies, as they are selected 
using conditions that mirror the end application 
(temperature, environment, sample type, etc).

In addition, aptamers’ physical properties are 
beneficial compared to protein-based alternatives 
making them of specific interest for the diagnostic 
market. For example, manufacturing of aptamers 
is scalable and consistent through solid-phase 
synthesis, they have extended shelf-life through dry 
storage and there is no need for cold-chain supply.

Aptamer Diagnostics has successfully developed 
Optimer® binders that have been applied in existing 
diagnostic platforms, including Enzyme-Linked 
Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA), lateral flow assays, 
flow cytometry and cell or tissue imaging. We 
have also demonstrated the use of these binders 
in several biosensor formats, including BioLayer 
Interferometry (BLI), which we routinely use for internal 
and customer-focused development work, as well as 
gold-electrochemical, redox-based, graphene-based 
and Raman spectroscopy-based sensors.

Aptamer Diagnostics’ revenue model comprises 
an initial fee-for-service, with potential for ongoing 
licence fees, milestone payments, technology transfer 
and success fees. The Group will generate revenue in 
any event for our initial discovery services, but if an 
Optimer® is successfully identified and commercialised 
or licensed by a customer, revenues and margins can 
be significant. Timescales from project initiation to 
commercialisation by the customer can be as little 
as 1–2 years and initial licensing payments within 
approximately 4 years.
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Aptamer Therapeutics provides 
contract research services in the field 
of therapeutics, using our Optimer® 
platform to develop Optimer®-drug 
conjugates, Optimer®-enabled gene 
therapies and Optimer® agonists  
and antagonists. 

The use of Optimer® binders as drug conjugates 
has generated significant interest from potential 
pharmaceutical partners focused on the targeted 
delivery of drug molecules. Delivering drug molecules 
to specific cells and tissues within the body remains a 
major translational challenge yet holds the potential 
to increase the therapeutic index of many drugs. The 
relatively small size of Optimer® binders compared 
with antibodies gives them several advantages 
in tissue penetration and access to binding sites. 
When coupled with the typically low immunogenic 
profiles of oligonucleotide-based therapeutics, and 
comparative ease of synthesis and modification, 
this creates the potential to use them as novel 
format targeted delivery vehicles. 

As part of our long-term growth strategy, we will 
be pursuing the development of Optimer®-based 
therapeutics, much like the established process 
of monoclonal antibody drug development in 
partnership with selected biopharma and pharma 
partners. Importantly, we will enter this market using a 
collaborative development model to mitigate the risks 
and costs associated with drug development. We have 
undertaken preliminary discovery programmes with 
organisations including Cancer Research UK (CRUK) 
and AstraZeneca and have ongoing early-stage projects 
with partners for the development of Optimer®-targeted 
antisense oligonucleotide (ASO), small interfering RNA 
(siRNA) and precision chemotherapeutics. 

Aptamer Therapeutics’ revenue model comprises 
an initial fee-for-service, with potential for ongoing 
licence fees, milestone payments, technology transfer 
and success fees. The Group will generate revenue in 
any event for its initial discovery services, but if an 
Optimer® is successfully identified and commercialised 
or licensed by a customer, revenues and margins can 
be significant. Timescales from project initiation to 
commercialisation or developmental milestones, can 
be 1–2 years, and initial licensing payments can be 
within approximately 4 years.
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Ongoing strategic development
We believe there is increasing demand for target-
specific aptamers and Optimer® binders from pharma 
companies and from the developers of platform 
technologies that rely on binder technologies and 
we intend to follow this trend in our own projects. 
Some projects will focus on the improvement of 
our processes and the integration of innovative 
technologies (both in terms of novel nucleotide 
chemistries and new ways to isolate target-specific 
binders), however we expect to focus our efforts on 
the development of our customer’s target-specific 
Optimer® binders and their application in proteomic, 
purification, diagnostic and therapeutic platforms.

Our aim is to remain at the forefront of aptamer 
technologies. We have developed high-throughput 
capabilities, which allows us to generate Optimer® 
binders against large numbers of targets in parallel. 
Our innovative team is constantly seeking new 
technologies that can be integrated with existing 
technologies to improve the binders, performance, 
capacity and turnaround time.

We have recently acquired the patent rights to a  
novel nucleotide technology platform, currently 
known as Optimer®+. These nucleotide building 
blocks carry protein-like side chains, which, when 
incorporated into aptamers, deliver more protein- 
like properties on the resulting developed binders.  

Aptamer Group provides contract research services 
on a fee-for-service basis. In addition to being paid 
for the development work we undertake we seek to 
retain the intellectual property in relation to each 
of the aptamer and Optimer® binders resulting from 
contract research work. Therefore, if a customer 
takes a particular binder forward to further 
development stages or commercialisation, we will 
generate ongoing longer-term royalty and licence fee 
income – in all business areas, including research 
applications, bioprocessing, diagnostics, and 
therapeutics. The potential upside from royalty 
and licence fee income can be very significant.

Our research, bioprocessing and diagnostic tools/
reagents have a faster route to market and revenue 
generation. Enabling therapeutics programmes 
can take longer but are expedited using Optimer® 
binders compared to antibodies and offer higher 
longer-term revenues and margins.

We have three strategic pillars to support 
the future expansion and development of the 
Company to ensure it is positioned for success. 

Our strategy is to grow and increase 
capacity over multiple verticals to 
deliver more solutions and higher value 
engagements with our customers. 

To increase the capacity, 
enabling simultaneous 
handling of hundreds  
of targets
To service the increasing demand  
from new and existing customers.

Delivery for year ended 30 June 2022
 — Optimer® platform scale up underway with 

increased automation in our processes to  
enhance efficiency

 — Relocation to larger facility in York 
completed in October 2022
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See our strategy in 
action in selected 
case studies.

To develop our proprietary 
scaffold technology 
and protection of these 
technologies via patents
To stay at the forefront of aptamer 
technologies, differentiate ourselves 
and allow us to both enter new  
markets and address new targets. 

Delivery for year ended 30 June 2022
 — Increased focus on R&D including integration of our 

novel nucleotide chemistry platform, Optimer®+

 — Progressed the generation of data packs to support 
the development of strategic collaborations in the 
drug delivery tools space

To accelerate commercial 
expansion and service 
development 

To meet the increasing needs of our 
expanding customer base.

Delivery for year ended 30 June 2022
 — Increased headcount by 44% to 49 employees, 

including a specific assay development team 
within R&D 

This technology bridges the gap between nucleic  
acid aptamers and other affinity ligands, increasing 
the size of our addressable market by broadening the 
range of targets that can be addressed by our novel 
aptamers. These novel aptamers will also be highly 
patentable and more difficult to reverse-engineer, 
adding value to our IP portfolio.

When this nucleotide technology platform has  
been fully established and integrated, Aptamer  
Group expects to apply it to pilot diagnostic and 
therapeutic programmes.
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Since August 2021, Aptamer 
Group has been collaborating 
with Bio-Works Technologies 
to co-develop a new affinity 
resin that will enable improved 
bioprocessing for gene therapies. 

As part of this partnership, Aptamer Group 
is developing Optimer® binders capable  
of binding to, and eluting, multiple viral 
vectors. These will be coupled with  
Bio-Works Technologies’ WorkBeads™ 
agarose beads to develop a derivatised  
resin for improved purification and scale-up 
of gene therapy vectors.

The gene therapy market is rapidly maturing with clinical 
and regulatory progress accelerating and commercialised 
therapies on the market which is highly exciting for both 
developers and patients. However, there are still challenges 
in producing vectors for therapies at sufficient scale and in 
a more cost-efficient way. One of the benefits of aptamers 
is they can improve bioprocessing solutions as they are 
chemically stable and a well-defined option, making  
them well-suited to the expected industry demand 
for large-scale purification.
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“ We believe that aptamers 
have great potential as affinity 
ligands. The modalities used 
by drug developers in the 
biopharmaceutical space 
are diversifying, and this is 
expanding the market for novel 
and specific affinity solutions 
that have high specificity 
for the target of interest. 
Being able to rapidly screen 
many aptamer constructs to 
identify an affinity solution for 
almost any molecule is highly 
advantageous in this space.”

Jonathan Royce 
Chief Executive Officer  
Bio-Works Technologies AG 
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Aptamer Group has been 
working with Modern Water, 
the environment test division 
of DeepVerge (AIM: DVRG), an 
environmental and life science 
group of companies.

Aptamer Group has been working with Modern 
Water using Artificial Intelligence (AI) analysis 
to identify contamination in water, since May 
2020. Initially the partnership formed part of 
Modern Water’s COVID-19 initiative to detect 
SARS-CoV-2 virus in wastewater. This initial 
phase used Microtox®PD chips coated with 
Aptamer’s Optimer® binding agents. 

The collaboration was extended in Q1 2022 to detect bacteria 
and infectious viruses including Pepper Mild Mottle virus 
(PMMoV), Influenza A, Influenza B and Polio in wastewater, and 
E.coli in drinking water on a single Microtox®PD chip. The use of  
Optimer® binders in Microtox®PD allows for the highly sensitive 
and specific detection of viral particles within wastewater systems, 
providing ongoing and real-time water monitoring and acting as 
a long-term early-warning solution for the remote monitoring of 
disease outbreaks.

The pathogen detection systems have been deployed to 
various wastewater sites in the UK as part of the Environmental 
Monitoring for Health Protection (EMHP) programme, led by the 
Joint Biosecurity Centre, Defra, academia and water companies.
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“ The collaboration between 
Modern Water and The Aptamer 
Group has been a real success  
and continues to grow. The 
Aptamer Group team are always 
on hand to consult and discuss 
the project as it evolves. Together, 
this solution offers regional, 
national and global authorities 
innovative ways to monitor and 
improve the health and safety  
of the population from an 
endemic and global pandemic 
health crisis. This partnership 
is a winning combination of 
technology and represents 
science at its very best.”

Gerry Brandon 
Chief Executive Officer 
DeepVerge
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In June 2021, we entered  
a strategic collaboration  
with PinotBio, a clinical  
stage oncology-focused 
biotechnology company.

We investigated the combination 
of Optimer® binders with PinotBio’s 
chemotherapeutic, FL-118 compound for 
targeted drug delivery to cancer cells.

Excellent initial results have been reported, showing the 
viability of combining the two companies' technologies for 
targeted drug delivery to cancer cells, with effective killing 
of the target cells and the safe use of the Optimer® binders 
as antibody alternatives. 

Following this success, we are now working together 
to develop Optimer®-drug conjugates as novel format 
Antibody-Drug Conjugate (ADC) alternatives to four non-
blood-based cancer biomarkers. These novel Optimer®-drug 
conjugates will bring new treatment potential to target 
solid tumours, which respond poorly to chemotherapy, and 
provide new medicines with improved tumour penetration 
compared to traditional ADCs, as well as providing the 
potential for higher doses with the same injection volume. 
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“ Working with Aptamer Group 
has opened up new avenues for 
our technology, highlighting its 
compatibility beyond standard 
antibodies to work with the next 
generation of targeting ligands, 
like Optimer® binders. The team 
at Aptamer bring the same 
innovative scientific approach 
with a commercial mindset that 
we embrace here at PinotBio, 
allowing us to work at pace to 
provide novel solutions that 
could improve treatment for 
cancer patients globally.”
Dr Dooyoung Jung, 
Chief Executive Officer  
PinotBio 
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Innovation enabled

The past year has been 
transformational for Aptamer 
Group and I’m excited to see 
the momentum continue to 
build and the Group go from 
strength to strength. 

Introduction
The past year has been transformational for the Group 
and it gives me great pleasure to share our progress 
with shareholders following our maiden financial year 
as a listed company. In December 2021, we raised 
£10.8 million in our initial public offering on AIM. 
The funds raised are enabling us to ensure that our 
proprietary technology can be truly disruptive to the 
well-established global antibody market predicted 
to reach over $248.9 billion by 20271, and positions 
us well to take advantage of the growing value of the 
antibody alternative market, which is predicted to 
reach over $12 billion by 20282. 

Firstly, we are investing in the scale-up of our 
laboratory capacity, focusing on acceleration of our 
automation solutions. Secondly, we are investing 
in our proprietary novel nucleotide chemistry, which 
will give us a differentiated offer to the market. We are 
also expanding our commercial team and upgrading its 
systems to ensure the needs of our customers are met. 
Finally, some funds have been allocated to our working 
capital requirements to deliver our strategic plan.
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Dr Arron Tolley 
Chief Executive Officer
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Underpinned by the £10.8 million IPO fundraise, Aptamer 
Group intend to accelerate growth and increase capacity over 
multiple verticals to deliver more solutions and higher value 
engagements with customers.

Growth strategy to expand core 
capabilities & market share

Scale-up and  
Automation

To increase the capacity, enabling 
simultaneous handling of hundreds 
of targets

To accelerate commercial expansion, 
data pack development, service 
development and upgrade systems 
and IT in line with the expanded 
business’ requirements

To develop our proprietary scaffold 
technologies & protection of these 
technologies via patents

Working capital during expansion  
and delivery of strategic plan

Novel Nucleotide  
Chemistries

Commercial expansion and  
service development

Working  
capital

£

1  Market Data Forecast. Global Antibodies Market Size, Share, Trends, COVID-19 Impact & Growth Analysis Report – Segmented By Product 
Type, Indication, End User, Application and Region - Industry Forecast (2022 to 2027) Report ID: 1112. (2022)

2  The Insight Partners. Next-Generation Antibody Market Forecast to 2028 - COVID-19 Impact and Global Analysis By Therapeutic Area 
(Oncology and Autoimmune or Inflammatory) and Technology (Antibody-Drug Conjugates, Bispecific Antibodies, Fc Engineered Antibodies, 
Antibody Fragments and Antibody-Like Proteins, and Biosimilar Antibody Products) Report Code: TIPRE00006412 
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Group performance
Our progress in delivering against our strategy 
has been underpinned by strong revenue growth in 
our maiden year since IPO of 152% to £4.0 million, 
with an Adjusted EBITDA loss of £1.7 million and 
a cash position of £6.7 million at the end of the 
year. These results, which are in line with market 
expectations, have been delivered by our three 
business units throughout the year, an overview 
of which I have provided below.

Divisional performance
Aptamer Solutions
Aptamer Solutions provides custom development 
services of oligonucleotide-based aptamer and 
Optimer® binders for use as research tools, quality 
control reagents and affinity ligands to support 
bioprocessing applications.

We are focused on the custom development of 
Optimer® binders for a range of contract research 
services, from bioprocessing to research reagents. 
As our main revenue-generating business division, 
this business unit has seen continued growth with 
many contract wins this year.

At the beginning of the year, we secured a contract 
with a top-five global pharma company to develop 
Optimer® binders as quality control reagents for a 
novel neurodegenerative disease vaccine. We have 
also signed two large commercial agreements with 
public life science companies to develop panels of 
Optimer® ligands for use on proteomic and multiplex 
analysis platforms. The work with our multiplex 
platform partner has now progressed to late-stage 
development and we look forward to delivering these 
binders to our partner shortly. We have also signed 
an agreement with Bio-Works Technologies AG to co-
develop new affinity purification resins for improved 
purification of gene therapy vectors. 

Post year end, we have seen further contract wins 
with both a top-ten pharma partner and a US-based 
biotech company pursuing Optimer® development 

as bioprocessing ligands. Multiple Optimer® binder 
development programmes are being explored to 
purify a number of novel medicines with the top-ten 
pharma partner. Work with our US-based biotech 
partner will aim to develop Optimer® binders that 
improve current purification processes by removing 
production contaminants during the downstream 
manufacturing process. Additional post-period 
developments include the development of Optimer® 
binders as immunohistochemistry reagents to 
support both early-stage discovery projects and a 
pipeline asset for a top-ten pharmaceutical partner, 
and the development of Optimer® binders as novel 
solutions in personal care products for a multinational 
consumer goods company. 

Aptamer Diagnostics
Aptamer Diagnostics focuses on the development 
and integration of Optimer® binders into diagnostic 
platforms. Optimer® binders offer significant 
advantages, including detection of novel diagnostic 
targets, increased stability and consistency. 
Our platform supports multiple diagnostic formats, 
such as Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay, flow 
cytometry, biosensors, and cell and tissue imaging.

The COVID-19 pandemic has increased the 
global awareness of diagnostics and the need 
for rapid development of detection reagents. In 
turn, the interest in our custom Optimer®-enabled 
diagnostic services has grown. An example of this 
is our partnership with DeepVerge, where we have 
developed SARS-CoV-2 Optimer® binders for use in 
their wastewater monitoring systems – an innovative 
solution to help combat disease outbreaks through 
the early detection of hotspots. Following successful 
performance evaluation versus. a close competitor 
(and data that showed our Optimer® binder could bind 
to the Omicron variant of SARS-CoV-2) we expanded 
our partnership with DeepVerge. In March this year, 
we are proud to say Optimer®-enabled Microtox®PD 
systems started being installed at multiple sites across 
the UK as part of the Environmental Monitoring for 
Health Protection programme (EMHP). 
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Going forward this strategy will provide 
a framework, alongside a focus on tool 
development, for our growing organisation 
and will underpin the Group’s future direction 
to ensure we are all aligned for success in our 
addressable markets. I am pleased that we have 
made excellent progress in advancing our key 
strategic growth pillars outlined below.

1.  To increase the capacity, 
enabling simultaneous 
handling of hundreds  
of targets

Strong revenue growth
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We have also recently partnered with ProAxsis to 
develop Optimer® binders to replace the antibodies 
in their respiratory diagnostic assays, which were 
causing issues due to poor stability and security of 
supply. These Optimer® binders have completed 
discovery and have been transferred to ProAxsis for 
their internal validation. In February this year, we also 
signed a contract with a precision oncology company 
to develop Optimer® binders for use in a companion 
diagnostic assay.

As the global need for diagnostics continues to 
grow, Optimer® binders are being explored by our 
partners across the diagnostic industry for a range 
of applications. Their excellent target recognition, 
consistent and ethical supply, and temperature 
stability enable simple global logistics and position 
our Optimer®-based tests as an antibody alternative 
for use in diagnostics.

Post year end, we have developed an agreement 
with Bioliquid Innovative Genetics S.L. for Optimer® 
development to support a novel prenatal and 
placental diagnostic platform.

Aptamer Therapeutics
Aptamer Therapeutics delivers contract research 
services in the field of therapeutics, using our Optimer® 
platform with a focus on Optimer®-drug conjugates, 
Optimer®-enabled gene therapies, and Optimer® 
agonists and antagonists for therapeutic application.

Over the financial year, our therapeutics business 
has shown significant growth, predominantly driven 
by a number of new contract wins, collaborations 
and partnerships – as well as expansions on 
previous agreements. 

In July 2021, we signed an agreement with WuXi 
AppTec Research Services Division to identify 
new Optimer®-enabled therapeutic opportunities. 
We also commenced a project with PinotBio for the 
development of Optimer® drug conjugates for use as 
chemotherapeutic delivery vehicles, which following 
positive initial results was extended in May 2022. 

2.  To develop our proprietary 
scaffold technologies 
and protection of these 
technologies via patents

3.  To accelerate commercial expansion, 
data pack development, service 
development and upgrading systems 
and IT in line with the expanded 
business’ requirements

We have also continued our collaboration with 
AstraZeneca to support the development of Optimer® 
binders as next-generation drug delivery vehicles in 
kidney disease. 

I am confident that the momentum we’ve gained in our 
maiden year in the application of Optimer® binders as 
potential therapeutic modalities will continue into the 
next year and beyond as the demand for our services 
grows and we build compelling exemplification data 
demonstrating the power of the platform.
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Operational progress
At the time of our IPO, we set out our strategic pillars 
for growth to expand core capabilities and market 
share. Underpinned by the £10.8 million IPO fundraise, 
we intend to accelerate growth and increase capacity 
over multiple verticals to deliver more solutions and 
higher value engagements with customers. I have 
provided a summary of our delivery against each 
of these three areas below:

 

1.  To increase the capacity, enabling simultaneous 
handling of hundreds of targets
The scale up of our Optimer® platform is underway 
and includes increased automation in our processes, 
building on the capacity of our current platform 
with additional equipment in order to focus on 
acceleration of our automation solutions. Post-year 
end in October, we completed the planned relocation 
to larger facilities in York. The relocation will enable 
us to service the increasing demand for our Optimer® 
binders from both new and existing customers and 
completes the first stage of our capacity expansion.

 

2.  To develop our proprietary scaffold technology 
and protection of these technologies via patents
In order to stay ahead of the competition, 
we have increased our focus on R&D and are 
already looking at the next generation of 
improved binder technology. We are pleased to 
confirm the integration of our novel nucleotide 
chemistry platform, Optimer®+, is well underway. 
This platform has the potential to improve 
the performance of our existing technology, 
differentiate us in the affinity ligand market and 
allow us to enter new markets and address new 
targets. We are delivering our internal plans on 
the implementation of Optimer®+ and we have 
made progress in the generation of exemplification 
data to support the development of strategic 
collaborations in the drug delivery tools space. The 
development of this platform and its subsequent 
discovery processes is integral to our mission to 
stay at the forefront of aptamer technologies.

 

3.  To accelerate commercial expansion, data 
pack development, service development 
and upgrade systems and IT in line with the 
expanded business’ requirements
We are also committed to scaling up our team. 
We remain on track with our hiring plan with our 
headcount increasing 59% from June 2021 to 54 
employees as at 30 September 2022, including an 
assay development team to demonstrate Optimer® 
functionality as an additional service offering.

Board and senior management changes
Since we commenced trading on the AIM market, 
the Aptamer Board has been strengthened with 
the appointment of Dr Ian Gilham as Non-Executive 
Chairman. Ian replaced Steve Hull, who worked with 
Aptamer for eight years. I would like to thank Steve 
for his support, excellent leadership and advice over 
his time with the Group. 

In addition, Dr Shozo Fujita joined the Scientific 
Advisory Board in 2021. He brings expertise in 
aptamer development and applications, and has 
developed functional aptabiosensors and novel 
aptamer-based nucleotide chemistries. Prior to this 
he was the founding partner at Apta Biosciences Ltd. 

We were also pleased to welcome Jenny Cutler as 
interim Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary, 
bringing 20 years of financial experience, including 
at public companies, to the management team. Prior 
to this, further expansion to the management team 
took place with the appointment of Alastair Fleming 
as Chief Operational Officer. Both appointments 
will be integral to our future and business growth. 
We welcome these experienced individuals to 
Aptamer, and we are working hard as a management 
team to deploy the IPO funds and deliver on our 
strategy. We would also like to take the opportunity 
to thank Eleanor Brown, previously Chief Financial 
Officer for her four years of service and being central 
to the success of the IPO. We wish Eleanor well with 
her future endeavours.

Corporate governance
As a publicly listed company we are committed 
to running our business in line with best practice 
environmental, social and governance standards. 
Further details on how we are maintaining the highest 
standards of corporate governance are outlined 
in greater detail on pages 42 to 54 of this report.

Macro environment
The Board and senior management team actively 
monitor risk factors that could potentially affect 
the business, including the wider macroeconomic 
environment and global supply chain to ensure that 
the business is well placed to act and mitigate such 
risks where possible. To date, Aptamer has seen 
limited impact from such macro factors, however, 
we will continue to proactively monitor these.

People
Our team has made outstanding contributions during 
our maiden year and great progress has been made 
adapting to the challenges of being an AIM-listed 
business. We would like to thank and recognise the 
dedication and commitment from each department 
and each individual team member that has enabled 
our success in a fast-paced growth environment. 

We are committed to empowering each team member 
for success and do this by placing a strong emphasis 
on the highest levels of scientific integrity, personal 
accountability and responsibility. Entrepreneurial 
spirit, fiscal responsibility and competition is 
encouraged and rewarded at every level. 
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We are dedicated to building and training a multi-
disciplinary diverse team who are identified, hired 
and measured solely on merit and capability. Because 
of this, we are proud to employ a diverse group of 
people from all backgrounds who possess the drive 
and dedication to accelerate the delivery of our vision. 
People from all social and educational backgrounds 
are encouraged to excel whether they come from 
traditional education or have been trained via in-
house vocational channels.

Summary and outlook
I’m extremely proud of everything we’ve achieved in 
our maiden year as a listed company and would like 
to take this opportunity to again thank all of the team 
for their continuous hard work and passion, which has 
been integral to the success of our business. 

Aptamer has maintained a solid pace of progress 
over the past year, having seen success in both 
expanding current partnerships and winning new 
contracts. Commercial traction continues to increase 
in Europe, USA and additional key global markets 
including APAC, across all business units.

Looking ahead to the rest of the current financial 
year, we aim to continue delivering strong revenue 
growth. We expect to sign contracts across all 
business units, demonstrating our progress in further 
capitalising on the clear market opportunity and 

demand for outsourcing the development of next-
generation affinity ligands. Despite the challenging 
macroeconomic environment, the first quarter of the 
current financial year has already seen the signing 
of several new contracts and we are on track to meet 
market expectations for the full year. 

We are also continuing to make progress in the 
development of additional capacity and, post-year 
end in October, we completed the move to our 
new premises, which will be a strong catalyst for 
our future growth. Alongside the expansion of our 
footprint, we are seeing strong progress in platform 
innovation which is being driven by the development 
of exemplification data that is expected to be a key 
future driver of commercial traction. 

I am excited to see this momentum continue to build 
and the Group go from strength to strength. 

Dr Arron Tolley
Chief Executive Officer
17 October 2022
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In December 2021 the Group raised gross 
proceeds of £10.8 million through a placing 
in conjunction with admission to AIM. This 
represented a major milestone in the Group’s 
development and secured the funds necessary 
to deliver the Board`s plans for significant growth.

Jenny Cutler 
Interim Chief Financial Officer
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Year ended 
30 June 2022 

£’000

15-month 
period ended 
30 June 2021

£’000

Adjusted EBITDA (1,664) (2,448)

Share-based payment expense (457) (55)

Statutory EBITDA (2,121) (2,503)

Amortisation (22) (24)

Depreciation (433) (345)

Operating loss (2,576) (2,872)

Revenue
The Group reported revenues for the year ended 
30 June 2022 of £4.0 million compared to the 15-month 
period ended 30 June 2021 (‘2021’) of £1.6 million. This 
growth represents a 152% increase against a 15-month 
period and reflects a strong operational delivery of 
contract research work for customer projects across 
all three of our business units: Aptamer Solutions, 
Aptamer Diagnostics and Aptamer Therapeutics.

Gross profit margin
Gross profit margin improved from 42% in 2021 
to 67% in 2022 as the Group utilised available 
operational capacity to deliver greater revenue 
and an improvement in operational efficiencies.

Research and development costs 
During the year the Group expensed through the 
income statement £0.8 million (2021: £0.6 million) 
relating to the continued development of the Optimer®+ 
platform technology and the design and optimisation 
of novel aptamer library architectures. The IPO 
fundraise enabled the acceleration of this work in 
the second half of the financial year. No research 
and development costs were capitalised during the 
year (2021: £nil).

Administrative expenses
Administrative costs were £4.4 million for the year 
compared to £3.1 million for 2021. This increase in costs 
primarily reflects the expansion of the commercial and 
production teams. Total headcount increased from 34 
at 30 June 2021 to 49 at 30 June 2022. 
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The Group uses Adjusted EBITDA as a profit 
performance metric as this excludes items which 
can distort comparability of underlying trading 
as well as being the measure of profit which most 
accurately reflects the cash-generating activities of 
the Group. Adjusted EBITDA for the year ended 30 
June 2022 was a loss of £1.7 million (2021: loss of 
£2.4 million).

Share-based payment charges
The non-cash share-based payment charge for the 
year increased to £0.5 million (2021: £0.1 million). 
This charge includes a one-off charge of £0.3 million 
in respect of a warrant that the Company issued to 
SPARK to subscribe for up to 689,417 Ordinary Shares 
on 15 December 2021.

Tax
The Group claims each year for research and 
development tax credits. Since it is loss-making, the 
Group elects to surrender these tax credits for a cash 
rebate. The benefit to the Group is included within the 
taxation line of the income statement and amounts to 
£0.5 million (2021: £0.6 million). The Group has not 
recognised any tax assets in respect of trading losses 
arising in the current financial year or accumulated 
losses in previous financial years.

Loss for the year
The loss for the year was £2.1 million (2021: £2.3 million 
loss). The basic and diluted loss per ordinary share 
decreased to 3.24 pence per share (2021: 3.92 pence per 
share) based on an average number of shares in issue 
during the year of 64,546,622 (2021: 58,970,318). 

Cash flow
The Group had £6.7 million of cash at 30 June 2022 
(2021: £0.4 million). The cash inflow for the year 
was £6.3 million (2021: £0.1 million inflow). This 
primarily reflects the net cash proceeds from the 
IPO of £9.6 million (2021: £2.1 million from the issue 
of share capital) and cash receipts relating to research 
and development tax credits of £0.6 million which 
represented the tax refund for the prior period (2021: 
£0.3 million). These were offset by the cash outflow 
from operating activities of £3.0 million (2021: £1.6 
million outflow), lease payments of £0.5 million 
(2021: £0.3 million) and an investment in capital 
expenditure and intangible assets of £0.4 million 
(2021: £0.4 million).

Financial position
Net assets at 30 June 2022 were £8.1 million (2021: 
£0.1 million) of which cash amounted to £6.7 million 
(2021: £0.4 million) reflecting the net fundraise of 
£9.6 million. After consideration of the Group’s 
detailed forecasts, the Board has concluded that the 
Group has the resources to continue as a going concern 
and meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 

Right-of-use assets have increased by £1.1 million 
to £1.3 million (2021: £0.2 million) primarily due 
to the signing of the new lease at York Science Park. 
A corresponding right-of-use lease liability of 
£1.3 million (2021: £0.2 million) has been recorded 
at 30 June 2022.

Jenny Cutler
Interim Chief Financial Officer
17 October 2022

36 Aptamer Group PLC



Statement by the Directors in relation 
to their statutory duty in accordance 
with Section 172(1) of the Companies 
Act 2006 

The Directors and the Board as a whole consider 
that they have acted in a way that would be most 
likely to ensure the success of the Group for the 
benefit of its members as a whole (having regard 
to the stakeholders and matters set out in Section 
172(1) (a) to (f) of the Act) in decisions taken during 
the year ended 30 June 2022. The Directors 
fulfil their duty by ensuring that there is a robust 
governance structure and process running through 
all aspects of the Group’s operations. The Group’s 
culture of strong governance is described in more 
detail on pages 42 to 54. 

The Group’s strategy is determined by the Board 
following careful consideration of materials and 
presentations from the Group Executive Team. 
This encompasses the impact on each of our 
main stakeholders and ensures alignment to the 
Group’s culture. The Board engages with and meets 
stakeholders regularly, continually monitors 
the markets in which the business operates, and 
ensures that it regularly engages its leadership 
team to assess progress on strategy and specific 
projects. The Group’s focus on ESG is especially 
relevant to our stakeholders and this is explained 
across our approach to risk management in pages 
40 to 41 and governance on pages 42 to 54.

Section 172 statem
ent
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Engaging with our stakeholders through open 
and clear communications.

People
People are the key to the success of 
the Group. 

It is their skills, experience and hard work 
that allow us to deliver quality services to our 
customers and be innovative in our research  
and development.

We believe every employee should have a 
voice and that every opinion should be heard 
because every individual working at Aptamer 
has something unique and valuable to offer. The 
Directors strive to provide an open culture where 
feedback and interaction is encouraged between 
the workforce. Regular interaction is conducted 
in multiple formats for all staff:

 — Bi-monthly town hall meetings

 — Team meetings by function

 — Events and social activities

Investors
Without the long-term support 
of our shareholders, our business 
and delivery of our strategy is 
not sustainable.

We provide regular and open communication 
with our shareholders to ensure they are fully 
abreast of our strategic objectives, financial and 
operational performance, governance of the 
Group and values by which we operate:

 — Regulatory News Service (RNS) 
announcements

 — Annual and half-year reports

 — Annual General Meeting

 — One-to-one investor meetings

 — Social media updates

The Board considers its major stakeholders to be our people, our investors, our customers and our suppliers. 
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Customers
Our customers are central to 
Aptamer’s strategic objectives, 
and we deliver a first-class 
service to them at the highest 
regulatory standards.

Our principal customers include large 
pharmaceutical companies who either use our 
services or collaborate with us to deliver research 
and development.

We engage regularly with our customers to 
ensure we are meeting their needs adequately:

 — Weekly team calls 

 — Project progress reports

 — Customer experience surveys

 — Scientific webinars

 — Industry events and conferences

Suppliers
The success of the delivery of 
our projects depends on strong 
relationships with trusted and 
professional suppliers who play a 
key role in our commercial strategy. 

They underpin our business growth and 
ensure we deliver a quality service and 
remain competitive.

Our employees have a strong working 
relationship with our suppliers and liaise 
with them regularly through:

 — Team calls 

 — Progress reports
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The principal risks to achieving the Group’s objectives are:

Risk Description Mitigating Actions

Financial Risk The Group is at an early stage of its 
development and faces a number of 
operational, strategic and financial risks 
frequently encountered by companies 
looking to bring new products to market. 

The Group is focussed on delivering 
revenue growth and is expected to be 
loss-making for the foreseeable future 
with further commitments planned 
to invest in the infrastructure and 
capabilities to support future growth. 

There can be no certainty that the Group 
will begin to be cash positive from trading 
activity or that further capital will be 
available once the current funds are 
fully committed and utilised.

The Group endeavours to reduce this risk by 
forecasting cash flow and driving financial 
planning to improve the financial resilience 
of the Group.

Management is also committed to mitigating 
this risk by delivering against the Group’s 
growth strategy, generating revenue and 
winning new and existing contracts.

The Board reviews financial performance 
on a frequent basis in order to ensure that 
Management are delivering against plan.

The cash balance at 30 June 2022 was  
£6.7 million.

Dependence on 
Key Personnel

The Group continues to be dependent 
upon the involvement and contribution 
of Aptamer’s founding scientists, Dr 
Arron Tolley and Dr David Bunka. Also, 
given the relatively small size of the 
Group, it is reliant on a small number of 
key individuals.

The Group appreciates the high level of 
expertise and contributions made by its key 
people. It offers a merit-based, stimulating 
work environment with a culture focused 
on teamwork and freedom to operate. In 
addition, there is a competitive performance-
based reward structure, including annual 
performance bonus and share options that 
vest over a number of years. The Board is 
also taking steps to ensure that knowledge, 
skills and expertise are shared and developed 
across all levels of the organisation.

Research and 
Development

The Group engages in research and 
development to develop solutions 
required by customers or to develop 
new technology to address specific 
market needs. The Group may not reach 
customer requirements or develop the 
technology quick enough which could 
result in the delay to projects.

The Group is building an experienced and 
reputable team of subject matter experts 
who are monitoring the outputs of the 
projects to ensure appropriate decisions 
based on data outcomes are taken at the 
right time. 

The Board:
Is ultimately responsible for risk.

Reviews the principal risks and uncertainties facing 
the Group and assesses the controls in place to 
manage risk and mitigate potential adverse impacts.

The Audit Committee:
Monitors the effectiveness of risk management  
and internal controls.

The Leadership Team:
Oversees the risk management process and monitors 
mitigating actions.

Our Principal Risks
The Board considers risk assessment, identification of 
mitigating actions and related internal controls to be 
crucial to achieving the Group’s strategic objectives. 
The Corporate Governance Report describes the 
systems and processes through which the Directors 
manage and mitigate risk.
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Risk change:

Risk Description Mitigating Actions

Intellectual 
Property

The Group owns a portfolio of intellectual 
property comprising patents, patent 
applications and know-how. The 
commercial success of the Group and 
its ability to compete effectively with 
other companies depends, amongst 
other things, on its ability to obtain and 
maintain these patents and know-how 
sufficiently to provide protection for 
the Group. 

The absence of a commercially viable 
product that has been granted patents 
using our technology may have a 
material adverse effect on the Group’s 
ability to develop its business.

In addition, an infringement on any of 
our patents would present a risk to the 
Group, as would a patent being granted 
to an alternative technology prior to one 
being granted on our technology.

The Group seeks to reduce this risk by  
only developing products where legal 
advice indicates patent protection would  
be available and commercially viable, 
seeking patent protection for the Group’s 
products, maintaining confidentiality 
agreements regarding Group know-how  
and technology, and monitoring technological 
developments and the registration of 
patents by other parties. 

IT and Assets The Group is reliant on its information 
technology systems for the processing, 
transmission and storage of electronic 
data relating to its research, operations 
and financial reporting. The success 
of the Group is dependent on its 
technical capabilities.

The Group has security measures and back-
up systems in place in an attempt to counter 
any attacks by hackers, computer viruses 
or malicious code or other disruptions, 
including as a result of natural disasters or 
telecommunications breakdown or other 
reasons beyond the Group’s control. 

External Factors 
/Global Macro-
economic Events

The outbreak of epidemics or pandemics, 
such as any future strains of the SARS-
CoV-2, may adversely impact the business, 
third-party suppliers and/or its customers.

Disruptive events such as natural 
catastrophes, economic turmoil, 
pandemics, political crisis and regulatory 
intervention which impact third-party 
suppliers and may require the Group to 
adapt the way it operates may present 
operational risk.

Our employees are already used to working 
remotely effectively, flexibly and alongside 
our valued and skilled network of consultants 
and sub-contractors. The Group has relocated 
to larger premises with more space to 
socially distance from one another.

The Board and Senior Management monitor 
global events and how they could potentially 
impact the business. For example, at present 
it is well documented that supply chains 
are causing disruption for some companies. 
Aptamer is keeping in regular contact with 
its key suppliers to ensure that any potential 
delays to the supply chain are known about 
in sufficient time for alternative supplies 
to be secured, and is confident that it is 
managing this process effectively.

The Strategic Report is contained on pages 1 to 41. It was approved by the Board on 17 October 2022 and signed 
on its behalf by:

Arron Tolley
Chief Executive Officer

Increasing Decreasing Stable
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Dr Ian Gilham 
Independent  
Non-Executive Chairman 

Ian is an experienced CEO and Chairman 
of life sciences companies. He is currently 
Chairman of AIM company Genedrive plc and 
Cytox Limited. From 2014 to 2021, he was 
Chairman of Horizon Discovery Group plc 
before its recent sale to Perkin Elmer Inc. 
From 2008 to 2011 he was CEO of Axis-Shield 
plc, a former Main Market listed global 
diagnostics company that was sold to Alere 
Inc. for £260 million in 2011. Ian previously 
worked at GlaxoSmithKline as Vice President 
– Pharmacogenetics and held international 
general management, marketing, business 
development and R&D positions. Ian served 
as Chairman of Multiplicom N.V. from 2013 
to 2017, and as a Non-Executive Director of 
Vernalis plc (2015 to 2018). He holds a life 
sciences Ph.D. from the University of Bath and 
a degree in Zoology from Bangor University. 

Dr Arron Tolley 
Chief Executive Officer 

Arron holds a Ph.D. in Molecular Biology and 
Biophysics and a B.Sc. in Molecular Medicine 
from the University of Leeds. Arron has over 
ten years’ experience in the aptamer field and 
has particular expertise in the development of 
aptamers against complex cellular targets and 
model disease systems. Arron plays an active 
role in the research and development side of 
the business and is credited with the invention 
and development of a new aptamer-based 
biomarker discovery platform. He also has 
extensive experience in business development, 
business administration and fundraising. 

Background and 
experience:

Committee  
membership:

Committee membership:

Audit Committee

Remuneration Committee

Committee ChairC

C

Governance
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Dr David Bunka 
Chief Technical Officer 

Dr John Richards 
Independent  
Non-Executive Director 

Angela Hildreth 
Senior Independent  
Non-Executive Director 

David holds a Ph.D. in Molecular Biology 
and has spent nearly 20 years developing 
nucleic acid aptamers against a wide variety of 
targets including small molecules (antibiotics, 
food contaminants, chemotherapeutics), 
disease-associated proteins, several cancer-
associated cell-lines, viruses and tissue 
biopsies. This work has been facilitated 
using high throughput, automated aptamer 
selection methods. David has built up an 
established international reputation in the 
field and has authored several peer-reviewed 
research articles, invited review articles and a 
book chapter on aptamer-based therapeutics. 
He has also given many guest seminars 
covering aptamer-based applications at top 
universities and international conferences. 

John read Chemistry at St John’s College 
Oxford prior to completing a DPhil in Peptide 
Chemistry, also at Oxford. Following his 
doctorate, John carried out post-doctoral 
research at the MRC Laboratory of Molecular 
Biology in Cambridge, working as part of 
the team which developed the now almost 
universally utilised Fmoc-solid-phase 
synthesis methodology. Subsequent to 
further research as a staff scientist into 
neuro-transmitter peptides in the MRC 
Neurochemical Pharmacology Unit in 
Cambridge, John moved into industry, 
initially as part of a start-up company 
formed by alumni of The Laboratory of 
Molecular Biology. John is currently Head of 
Pharmaceutical Development at Comanche 
Biopharma in Massachusetts, USA. Comanche 
is a preclinical biopharmaceutical company 
developing novel siRNA compounds for 
the treatment of preeclampsia. Previously, 
John was Senior Vice President at Novartis 
Pharmaceuticals Corporation, which had 
purchased The Medicines Company, of which 
John had been a founding member in 1997 and 
led CMC drug development activities since 
the company’s inception. 

Angela is experienced strategically, 
financially and operationally in developing 
and commercialising pharmaceutical and 
consumer healthcare products. Angela has 
been Finance Director and Chief Operating 
Officer of AIM listed Futura Medical Plc since 
2018. Previously she was UK Finance Director 
at Shield Therapeutics Plc, where she was part 
of the leadership team taking the company 
from start-up in 2011 to an AIM company in 
2016, and taking their lead product through 
late-stage development, regulatory approval 
and commercial launch. 

C
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Chairman’s introduction

Introducing the Board’s 
approach to governance and 
its key areas of focus this year.

Dr Ian Gilham 
Non-Executive Chairman

The Board of Aptamer Group is committed 
to maintaining the highest standards 
of corporate governance and sets clear 
expectations concerning the Group’s 
culture, values and behaviours. This is 
reinforced through the adoption of the 
Quoted Companies Alliance’s Corporate 
Governance Code (‘QCA Code’). The Board 
works diligently to ensure that Aptamer 
follows and applies the 10 principles of the 
QCA Code to the extent that is appropriate 
for a business of the Group’s size and stage 
of development. 

Role of the Board
The Board is responsible for taking all 
major strategic decisions and addressing 
any significant operational matters. In 
addition, the Board reviews the risk profile 
of the Group and ensures that an adequate 
system of internal control is in place. This 
is underpinned by the Board’s focus on 
ensuring that the Group delivers long-term 
value to its shareholders.
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Member Role Appointment date Attendance

Dr Ian Gilham Non-Executive Chairman 22 December 2021 4/4

Angela Hildreth Non-Executive Director 22 December 2021 4/4

Dr John Richards Non-Executive Director 1 June 2021 7/8

Dr Arron Tolley Executive Director 29 May 2014 8/8

Dr David Bunka Executive Director 29 May 2014 8/8

Composition of the Board
The Board comprises five Directors including a  
Non-Executive Chair, two full-time Executive Directors 
and two Non-Executive Directors, of which two are 
considered to be independent. The Board believes that 
the composition of the Board brings a complementary 
range of skills and experience to support the Group’s 
opportunities and challenges as a public company on 
AIM, while at the same time ensuring that no individual, 
or small group of individuals, can dominate the Board’s 
decision-making. 

Board committees
The Board meets regularly to review the Group’s 
progress towards its strategic goals and to approve 
corporate plans and actions, budgets and financial 
reporting. The Board has established the following 
committees to fulfil specific functions: the Audit 
Committee and the Remuneration Committee with 
formally delegated duties and responsibilities. Each of 
these committees meet on a regular basis and at least 
twice a year, and are both chaired by independent 
Non-Executive Directors.

Board meetings
During the year, the Board held 8 scheduled meetings, 
4 post the listing on AIM. Attendance at these meetings 
is below. 

The Board has elected not to constitute a dedicated 
Nomination Committee, instead retaining such 
decision-making with the Board as a whole. This 
approach is considered appropriate to enable all 
Board members to take an active involvement in the 
consideration of Board candidates and to support the 
Chair in matters of nomination and succession.

Social and environmental impact
The Board is mindful of the potential social and 
environmental impact of the Group’s activities and is 
committed to ensuring the environmental effect of 
these are minimised wherever possible. We ensure 
the Company strives to make a positive difference in 
the communities in which it operates by maintaining 
robust business practices, operating as a good 
corporate citizen and acting as a trusted employer.

Equal opportunity employer
We believe in the value of diversity and strive to be 
an equal opportunity employer. We have a diverse 
group of employees in terms of both ethnicity and 
gender, and firmly believe diversity, inclusion and 
collaboration are key to our success. 

Communication with shareholders 
The Board recognises the importance of communicating 
with its shareholders – both institutional and private 
– to ensure that the strategy and performance of 
the Group is understood and that its actions are held 
accountable to shareholders. Throughout the year, 
regular communications with investors is maintained 
via a number of channels:

 — Dedicated investor section of our website:  
https://aptamergroup.com/investors/

 — Company announcements published via 
Regulatory Information Service announcements.

 — Maiden Annual Report, and all future Annual 
Reports, fully audited, and published on 
our website.

 — Meetings between the Chairman, CEO, CFO, 
CTO and shareholders held on an ad hoc basis, 
and following publication of the interim and 
final results.

 — Annual General Meeting including both a 
presentation and an opportunity for shareholders 
to ask questions of Directors on a formal and 
informal basis, and to discuss the development  
of the business.
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1. Audit Committee report
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The Group established the Audit Committee when 
it became a publicly listed company in December 
2021. The Audit Committee plays a key role in the 
Group's governance framework by monitoring the 
Group's financial reporting, internal controls and 
risk management.

The Role of the Committee
The Audit Committee assists the Board with 
monitoring and reviewing the Company’s financial 
results and other reporting and has oversight of 
the effectiveness of risk management and systems 
of internal control. Its role is to provide confidence 
to shareholders on the integrity of our reported 
financial results and provide challenge to the external 
auditors and senior management. The framework of 
duties is set out in its Terms of Reference which are 
available on the Company’s website. Each year the 
Committee will review its own performance and its 
Terms of Reference. 

Members of the Committee have access to the 
Company Secretary who attends and minutes all 
meetings. To enable the Committee to discharge 
its duties effectively, the Company Secretary is 
responsible for ensuring the Committee receives 
high-quality, timely information. The Chair of the 
Committee works closely with the CFO and the 
finance department to ensure papers for meetings 
are comprehensive and comprehensible. When 
appropriate to do so, the Committee seeks the 
support of external advisers and consultants.

Duties of the Committee
The duties of the Committee include:

 — Monitoring the integrity of all financial reporting 
including key accounting policies.

 — Reviewing the content of the Annual Report 
and Accounts to ensure it is fair, balanced 
and understandable, providing the necessary 
information for shareholders to assess the 
Company's performance, business model  
and strategy.

 — Assessing the Company’s internal financial  
controls that identify, assess, manage and monitor 
financial risk and risk management systems.

 — Reviewing the Company’s procedures for 
detecting fraud, bribery and non-compliance  
and ensuring adequate arrangements are in  
place for employees and external parties to  
raise concerns.

 — Considering annually the need for an internal 
audit function based on the Company’s size  
and activities.

 — Considering the appointment of external  
auditors and the frequency of re-tendering  
and rotation of the audit.

 — Overseeing the relationship with, and 
the independence and objectivity of, the 
external auditors.

 — Developing and recommending a policy in  
relation to the use of the external auditors for 
non-audit services.

The Committee reports to the Board which includes 
reporting on any matters where it considers action or 
improvement is needed, including recommendation of 
remedial action. The Chair of the Committee reports 
to the Board on its proceedings after each meeting 
on all matters, including any reporting issues and on 
estimates and judgements made in the preparation of 
financial statements. 
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Attendance
During the year, the Committee held two scheduled meetings and reported on its activities to the Board. 

As at the date of this report, the members of the Audit Committee, all of whom held office throughout the year 
and to the date of this report unless otherwise stated, are: 

Member Role Status Appointment date Attendance

Angela Hildreth Chair Independent 22 December 2021 2/2

Dr John Richards Non-Executive Director Independent 22 December 2021 2/2

Committee membership and attendance
Appointments to the Committee are made by the Board in consultation with the Chair of the Committee. Both 
members are independent Non-Executive Directors, have competence relevant to the sector, with at least one 
member having recent and relevant financial experience. Only members of the Committee have the right to 
attend Committee meetings. However, the CFO and external audit lead partner are invited to attend meetings 
on a regular basis.

Key activities of the Committee following assembly post the IPO in December 2021:
 — Met with the External Auditor to review the interim results, discussed key accounting judgements and 

disclosures and advised the Board that these were a balanced and fair representation; and

 — Reviewed and updated the risk register and reported to the Board on views regarding the Group's operational 
and financial risks.

Key activities of the Committee post year end:
 — Review of the appropriateness of the going concern basis for the preparation of the annual report. Consideration 

was given to a plausible worse case scenario and the impact of this on the cash flow for the Group; and

 — Review of key audit judgements and estimates including the revenue recognition policy.

47Annual report 2022

Strategic report
G

overnance
Financial statem

ents



2. Remuneration Committee report
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Aptamer Group has strong prospects for growth 
and is well positioned to capitalise on the rapidly 
growing demand for new generations of binders for 
a wide range of applications across the global Life 
Sciences sector. Last year was a pivotal year for the 
Group as we successfully completed our IPO onto 
the AIM market. This required the establishment of 
a remuneration strategy focussed on recruiting and 
retaining the key staff that we require to deliver on 
our strategy whilst also defining and rewarding high 
levels of personal performance across the Group.

The Role of the Committee
The role of the Remuneration Committee is to ensure 
there is a formal process for considering executive 
remuneration. On behalf of the Board, it reviews 
the pay, benefits, and other terms of service of the 
Executive Directors of the Company and the broad 
pay strategy with respect to other senior executives. 
The framework of duties is set out in its Terms of 
Reference which are available on the Company’s 
website. Each year the Committee will review its 
own performance and its Terms of Reference.

Members of the Committee have access to the 
Company Secretary who attends and minutes all 
meetings. To enable the Committee to discharge  
its duties effectively, the Company Secretary  

is responsible for ensuring the Committee receives 
high-quality, timely information. The Chair of the 
Committee reports to the Board on its proceedings 
after each meeting on all matters within its duties 
and responsibilities and the Committee will make any 
recommendations to the Board it deems appropriate. 

Duties of the Committee
The duties of the Committee include:

 — Determining the Directors’ remuneration policy 
and setting the remuneration of the Company’s 
Chair, Executive Directors, senior management, 
Company Secretary and the wider workforce.

 — Establishing remuneration schemes for Executive 
Directors that promote long-term shareholding, 
and attract, retain and motivate those individuals 
without paying more than is necessary.

 — Designing remuneration policies and practices 
to promote long-term sustainable success, with 
executive remuneration aligned to the Company's 
purpose and values, clearly linked to the 
successful delivery of the Company’s  
long-term strategy.

 — Within the terms of the agreed policy, determining 
the total individual remuneration package of each 
Executive Director, the Company Chair and senior 
managers including bonuses, incentive payments 
and share options or other share awards.

 — Determining clawback and equivalent 
arrangements in the event of a significant 
downturn in performance or impropriety.

 — Determine the policy for, and scope of, pension 
arrangements for each Executive Director and 
other designated senior executives.

 — Agreeing the policy for authorising claims for 
expenses from the Directors.

 — Review the Company’s arrangements for its 
employees to raise concerns in confidence about 
possible wrongdoing in financial reporting or 
other matters. 

No Executive Director is involved in decisions setting 
their remuneration. 

Attendance
During the year, the Committee held one scheduled meeting post the IPO in December 2021 and reported on its 
activities to the Board. 

As at the date of this report, the members of the Remuneration Committee, all of whom held office throughout 
the year and to the date of this report unless otherwise stated, are: 

Member Role Status Appointment date Attendance

Dr Ian Gilham Non-Executive Chairman Independent 22 December 2021 1/1

Angela Hildreth Non-Executive Director Independent 22 December 2021 1/1

Dr John Richards Non-Executive Director Independent 22 December 2021 1/1
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Committee membership  
and attendance
Appointments to the Committee are made by the 
Board in consultation with the Chair of the Committee. 
All members are independent Non-Executive Directors. 
Only members of the Committee have the right to 
attend Committee meetings. However, the CEO, head 
of Human Resources and external advisers may be 
invited to attend for all or part of any meeting.

Directors' remuneration policy
This report sets out the Company’s policy on  
the remuneration of its Executive Directors and 
Non-Executive Directors (the "policy"). The Executive 
Directors have written terms of engagement with  
no fixed expiry date. Executive remuneration 
packages are prudently designed to attract,  
motivate and retain Directors of the necessary  
calibre and to reward them for enhancing value  
to shareholders. The performance measurement  
of the Executive Directors and key members of  
senior management and the determination of  
their annual remuneration package is undertaken  
by the Remuneration Committee. 

Base salary
Salaries are determined by reference to market  
data and taking into account the responsibilities  
of the Executive. All increases and changes are  
at the discretion of the Committee. 

Pension
Executives are offered a contribution into a defined 
contribution pension scheme.

Performance-related bonus
To incentivise performance against personal 
objectives and selected KPIs linked to business 
strategy, Company and Individual bonus targets 
are set in June of each year. Achievement of both 
Company and Individual targets are assessed in the 
September following the end of the financial year 
with payment following shortly thereafter. The 
current maximum percentages are 100% for the  
Chief Executive, and 75% for the Chief Technical 
Officer. A maximum pay-out requires an Executive’s 
personal performance to be maximum and the 
Company bonus achievement to be maximum as  
well. An overall Company achievement is based  
on financial and operational KPIs. 

Benefits
Life assurance and medical insurance are offered 
as a benefit to the Executives along with a 
gym membership.
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Directors' Remuneration
Audited Information
Single figure for total remuneration
The following table sets out the single figure for total remuneration for Directors for the year ended 
30 June 2022 and the 15-month period to 30 June 2021.

30 June 2022

2021
Total 

£'000s

Salary, fees  
and bonus 

£'000s

Other  
benefits** 

£'000s

Share-based 
payments 

charge 
£'000s

Pension 
£'000s

Total 
£'000s

Dr Arron Tolley 540*** 14 37 1 592 242

Dr David Bunka 347*** 1 4 1 353 94

Eleanor Brown1 196 1 19 1 217 78

Dr Ian Gilham2 42 – 19 – 61 –

Angela Hildreth2 21 – 8 – 29 –

Dr John Richards3 38 – 8 – 46 –

Professor Paul Townsend4 5 – 1 – 6 12

Paul Armstrong5 – – – – – –*

Jordan Clark6 66 1 – 1 68 8

Stephen Hull4 –* – 2 – 2 –*

Paul Lelieveld7 –* – – – – –*

Andrew Skinn4 4 – 1 – 5 8

Dr Frans Van Dalen4 –* – 1 – 1 –*

Mark Vaux8 16 – – – 16 37

Total 1,275 17 100 4 1,396 479

* Board fees paid via share options.

**  Other benefits include health insurance and gym membership. In addition Arron Tolley has received accommodation allowance up to IPO.

***  50% of bonus award included in these figures will be paid in shares in September 2023.

1 Resigned 13 June 2022.

2 Appointed 22 December 2021.

3 Appointed 1 June 2021.

4 Resigned 15 December 2021.

5 Resigned 2 February 2021.

6 Appointed 8 June 2021 and resigned 12 October 2021.

7 Resigned 7 June 2020.

8 Appointed 2 February 2021 and resigned 23 July 2021.
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Directors and their interests in shares 
The Directors of the Company who held office at the end of the year, and their interests in the ordinary share 
capital of the Company, were as follows:

Year ended 30 June 2022 

Number of 
shares

Percentage 
holding

Dr Arron Tolley 15,794,200 22.88%

Dr David Bunka 12,524,200 18.15%

Dr Ian Gilham 21,367 0.03%

Dr John Richards – –

Angela Hildreth – –

Directors' share options
The Directors of the Company who held office at the end of the year, have been granted the following share options:

 
Number of 

shares Date of grant Date of expiry
Exercise price per 

ordinary share

Dr Arron Tolley 700,000 30 June 2021 29 June 2031 15.54p

Dr David Bunka
32,600 31 July 2019 30 July 2029 7.675p

61,400 30 June 2021 29 June 2031 15.54p

Dr Ian Gilham 136,752 15 December 2021 14 December 2031 117p

Dr John Richards 59,829 15 December 2021 14 December 2031 117p

Angela Hildreth 59,829 15 December 2021 14 December 2031 117p
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The Directors present their Directors’ Report  
and audited financial statements of the Group 
for Aptamer Group PLC (“the Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (together “the Group”) for the year 
ended 30 June 2022.

These are the first published financial statements of 
the Group prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted 
by the United Kingdom. The financial statements 
were previously prepared under Financial Reporting 
Standard FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”.

Principal activities
The principal activity of the Company and the Group 
during the year was the provision of aptamer selection 
and development services and the development 
of aptamer-based reagents. The Group operates 
across three divisions: custom services (research and 
bioprocessing tools), diagnostics and therapeutics. 

Directors
The Directors who held office during the year and up 
to the date of signature of the financial statements 
were as follows:

Dr D H J Bunka  

Dr I D Gilham  (appointed on 22 December 2021)

A Hildreth (appointed on 22 December 2021)

Dr J D Richards 

Dr A C Tolley 

E Brown  (resigned on 13 June 2022)

J Clark   (resigned on 12 October 2021)

S Hull  (resigned on 15 December 2021)

A J Skinn  (resigned on 15 December 2021)

Prof P Townsend  (resigned on 15 December 2021)

Dr I F Van Dalen (resigned on 15 December 2021)

M Vaux  (resigned on 23 July 2021)

Results and dividends
The results for the year are set out on page 62.

No ordinary dividends were paid. The Directors do not 
recommend payment of a dividend.

Qualifying third-party  
indemnity provisions
The Group has indemnified all Directors of the Group 
against liability in respect of proceedings brought 
by third parties, subject to conditions set out in the 
Companies Act 2006 in the year and up to the date 
of the approval of these financial statements.

Financial instruments
Financial risk management
The Group’s activities expose it to a number of 
financial risks including credit risk, foreign currency 
risk, interest rate risk, cash flow risk and liquidity risk 
which it manages as follows:

Liquidity risk
In order to maintain liquidity to ensure that sufficient 
funds are available for ongoing operations and 
future developments, Management closely monitors 
available bank and other credit facilities in comparison 
to the Group’s outstanding commitments on a regular 
basis to ensure that the Group has sufficient funds to 
meet the obligations of the Group as they fall due.

Credit risk
The Group’s principal financial assets are bank 
balances and cash and trade and other receivables.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable 
to its trade receivables. Credit risk is managed by 
monitoring the aggregate amount and duration 
of exposure to any one customer depending upon 
their credit rating. The amounts presented in the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position are 
net of allowances for doubtful debts, estimated 
by the Group’s management based on prior 
experience and their assessment of the current 
economic environment. The Group has no issues 
with the impairment of debts at the reporting date. 
The historic trading activity and the collection of 
balances due from customers does not indicate that 
impairment risk will be significant in the future.

Foreign currency risk
The main currencies in which the Group operates  
are the Pound Sterling and the US Dollar. 

The Group is exposed in its trading operations to the 
risk of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and 
during the period the fluctuation in exchange rates has 
had an impact on reported results. The risk associated 
with foreign currency fluctuations is mitigated by 
holding foreign currency bank accounts. There was 
no exposure to foreign currency fluctuations at the 
reporting date.

Interest rate risk 
The Group adopts a policy of ensuring that there 
is an appropriate mix of fixed and floating rates in 
managing its exposure to changes in interest rates on 
borrowings. There is no material exposure to changes 
in interest rates at the reporting date.

Cashflow risk
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the 
financial risks of changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates. Interest-bearing liabilities are a 
mixture of fixed and floating rate, where the Group 
mitigates the exposure through cash flow hedging.
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Disabled persons
The Group is committed to employment policies, which 
follow best practice, based on equal opportunities 
for all employees, irrespective of sex, race, colour, 
disability or marital status. The Group gives full and 
fair consideration to applications for employment of 
disabled persons, having regard to their particular 
aptitudes and abilities. Appropriate arrangements 
are made for the continued employment and training, 
career development and promotion of disabled persons 
employed by the Group. If members of staff become 
disabled the Group continues employment, either in 
the same or an alternative position, with appropriate 
retraining being given if necessary.

Employee involvement
The Group systematically provides employees with 
information on matters of concern to them, consulting 
them or their representatives regularly, so that 
their views can be taken into account when making 
decisions that are likely to affect their interests. 
Employee involvement in the Group is encouraged, 
as achieving a common awareness on the part 
of all employees of the financial and economic 
factors affecting the Group plays a major role in 
maintaining its performance. The Group encourages 
the involvement of employees by means of regular 
management team briefings, regular training and 
feedback sessions.

Independent auditor
Jeffreys Henry Audit Limited were appointed  
auditors of the Company during the financial year.  
In accordance with S489 of the Companies Act 2006,  
a proposal for reappointment of the auditors will be 
put forward at the Company’s AGM.

Statement of disclosure to auditor
So far as each person who was a Director at the 
date of approving this report is aware, there is no 
relevant audit information of which the auditors of 
the Company are unaware. Additionally, the Directors 
individually have taken all the necessary steps that 
they ought to have taken as Directors in order to make 
themselves aware of all relevant audit information 
and to establish that the auditors of the Company 
are aware of that information.

Matters covered in the  
“Our Strategy” section
Certain matters required to be included in the 
Directors’ Report have been included in the  
“Our Strategy” section on page 20, namely the 
discussion of the future developments.

Going concern
The Directors are confident that the Group is well 
placed to continue to build on the platform which has 
been established in the financial periods covered by 
these financial statements. 

The Group has positive cash reserves of £6.7 million 
at 30 June 2022 and management monitor both the 
short-term and longer-term liquidity requirements of 
the Group. 

An assessment of the future trading circumstances 
of the Group has been performed by management 
which includes cashflow forecasts to the period 
ended October 2023. Based on these forecasts, 
including plausible downside sensitivities, 
management are confident that the Group has 
sufficient resources to meet its liabilities as they 
fall due for the foreseeable future. 

Therefore, the financial statements have been 
prepared assuming that the Group will continue as 
a going concern. The basis of accounting considers 
the recovery of our assets and the satisfaction of 
liabilities in the normal course of business. 

On behalf of the Board

Dr A C Tolley
Director 
17 October 2022
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The Directors are responsible for preparing the 
Annual Report and the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare 
financial statements for each financial year. Under 
that law the Directors have prepared the Group and 
Company financial statements in accordance with 
international accounting standards in conformity  
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Under company law, Directors must not approve the 
financial statements unless they are satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs  
of the Group and the Company and of the profit or  
loss of the Group for that period. In preparing the 
financial statements, the Directors are required to:

 — select suitable accounting policies and then apply 
them consistently;

 — state whether applicable international accounting 
standards in conformity with the requirements 
of the Companies Act 2006 have been followed, 
subject to any material departures disclosed and 
explained in the financial statements;

 — make judgements and accounting estimates that 
are reasonable and prudent; and

 — prepare the financial statements on the going 
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 
presume that the Group and the Company  
will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the Group and Company and hence 
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are also responsible for keeping 
adequate accounting records that are sufficient to 
show and explain the Group’s and the Company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy  
at any time the financial position of the Group and  
the Company and enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with the requirements  
of the Companies Act 2006.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Aptamer Group Plc
For the year ended 30 June 2022

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Aptamer Group Plc (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’) for the 
year ended 30 June 2022 which comprise the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, the consolidated and company statements of financial position, the consolidated and company statements of cash flows, 
the consolidated and company statements of changes in equity and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. 

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial statements is applicable law and UK 
adopted International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and, as regards the parent company financial statements, as applied 
in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

In our opinion: 

 — the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 
30 June 2022 and of the group’s loss for the year then ended; 

 — the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted IFRS’s; 

 — the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK Financial reporting standard 
101 and; 

 — the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Matters
The financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2021 were not audited.

Material uncertainty related to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the director’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the 
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 

We draw your attention to note 1.4 in the financial statements, which indicates the key risks and uncertainties set out on page 40 
and 41 may affect the future prospects and trading activities of the group. 

The Group sales forecasts includes a growth of revenues based on the expansion plans and the timely receipt of R & D tax credits 
and accounts receivables. The directors are satisfied that they would be able to take mitigating action in the event that the sales 
growth was slower and that these cash realisation’s will be met. These conditions, along with other matters as set out in note 1.4 
indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the entity’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting 
included reviews of expected cash flows for a period of 12 months, to determine expected cash requirements, which was 
compared to the liquid assets held in the entity included:

 — Evaluating the appropriateness of the going concern assessment performed by management with regard to the requirements 
of the applicable financial reporting framework, including the period covered;

 — Engaging with senior management around the group to obtain a broad-based understanding of key commercial drivers;

 — Testing the mathematical accuracy of the going concern model prepared by management and the underlying calculations 
used within it;

 — Verifying the level of cash held by the group as at 30 June 2022 and cash movements post year end;

 — Critically assessing the directors’ financial forecasts and the underlying key assumptions, including the sales pipeline, actual 
sales in the current financial year, operating cash burn rates and managements going concern sensitivity analysis which 
included cost reduction measures which would have the effect of extending the cash runway; and

 — Evaluating the adequacy of disclosures made in the financial statements in respect of going concern.

Financial statements
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Aptamer Group Plc continued
For the year ended 30 June 2022

Based on the work we have performed, there is an uncertainty on the achievement of the forecasts for twelve months from 
approval of the financial statements and there may be delays in cash realisations required to support the working capital cycle 
giving rise to material uncertainty related to going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections 
of this report.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to 
fraud) we identified, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the 
audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. This is 
not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recognition

As disclosed the group’s revenues is generated from a number 
of different revenue streams which arise from the provision of 
services in the diagnostics and therapeutics operating segments.

We assessed the audit risk for each revenue stream and 
identified significant risk existed in areas below:

 — Milestone achievement may not be accurately identified or 
may be fraudulently misrepresented, leading to inaccurate 
reporting of revenue streams.

 — An inappropriate policy of recognising revenue under 
IFRS 15 may be applied fraudulently to misstate 
revenues in error. This may arise either due an incorrect 
assessment being made of whether revenue should be 
recognised at a point in time or over time, or because of an 
incorrect assessment is made of the distinction between 
performance obligations. The risk is that revenues are not 
recorded accurately or in the correct period according and is 
present in all revenue streams.

 — Revenue may not be appropriately deferred when the 
provision of goods or services has not taken place in the 
financial year, leading to early revenue recognition and 
understatement of deferred income.

All of the above factors, the audit of revenue recognition had an 
effect on the group audit.

Our audit procedures in the response to the assessed risks were 
substantive in nature. On a sample basis we:

 — Agreed a sample of revenue items to supporting documents 
such as invoices, contracts, and proof of delivery/performance.

 — Obtained supporting evidence as to whether the milestones 
claimed have been achieved.

 — Assessed for each sample selected whether the revenue 
recognition policy applied was consistent with regards to 
nature of the contract entered in to with the customers.

This enabled us to conclude on whether revenue occurrence 
was demonstrable, and whether revenue had been recognised 
in the appropriate amount and in the correct period, according 
to contractual document in place.

Nothing has come to our attention as a result of performing 
the above procedures that causes us to believe that a material 
misstatement is present in respect of revenue recognition due to 
the matters identified as fraud and error risk set out in the left.

56 Aptamer Group PLC



Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment of Investments in Subsidiaries

Company financial statements present a significant level of 
investments, which may give rise to several risks associated 
with recognition, disclosure and completeness. We endeavour 
to assess the recognition, disclosure and completeness of 
investments in debt in line with the supporting documentation to 
ensure that such transactions are carried out at arm’s length and 
adequate fair value disclosed at the end of the reporting period.

We have performed the following audit procedures:

Reviewed management’s assessment of future operating 
cashflows and indicators of impairment;

Assessed the methodology used by management to estimate 
the future profitability of companies in the group and recoverable 
value of the investment, in conjunction with any intra-group 
balances, to ensure that the method used is appropriate;

Assessed the reasonableness of the key assumptions used in 
management’s estimates of recoverable value, in line with the 
economic and industry statistics relevant to the business;

Confirmed that any adverse changes in key assumptions would 
not materially increase the impairment loss;

Challenged cash inflows from revenue generating activities 
and the key assumptions applied in arriving at the expected 
revenues for the foreseeable future.

Reviewed the latest management accounts for all entities in 
the group to confirm reasonability of assumption used in the 
cashflow forecast.

Based on the audit work performed we are satisfied that the 
management have made reasonable assumptions in arriving at 
the value of the companies in the group based on net present 
value of future cashflow and the amounts are disclosed in 
accordance with the reporting framework, and no further 
impairment loss should be recognised in the parent company 
financial statements.

Accounting for share capital, options, and warrants

The group presents various instruments in issue during the 
period, which may not be adequately recognised and disclosed 
in line with the relevant accounting reporting standard. We 
endeavour to address this risk during the course of audit and 
perform audit procedures in respect of share-based payment 
transactions reflected in the period to ensure appropriate 
recognition and disclosure at the end of the reporting period.

Audit procedures were designed with the purpose of reviewing 
how share capital, options and warrants are accounted for.

As part of these procedures the share-based payments made 
in the year were obtained and reviewed in addition to the share 
options and warrants issued in the period.

These instruments were reviewed to test as to whether their 
recognition is in line with the relevant accounting standards.
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For the year ended 30 June 2022

Our application of materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality. 
These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our 
audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, 
both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.

Based on our professional judgment, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Group financial statements Company financial statements

Overall materiality £132,000 (2021: £34,000). £118,000 (2021: £34,000).

How we determined it Based on 5% of Net Loss (2021: 1.5% of Gross Assets). Based on 5% of Net Loss (2021: 1.5% of Gross Assets).

Rationale for 
benchmark applied

The most adequate basis is for materiality to be 
based on the net loss, which is consistent with our 
understanding of the growth of the business year on 
year, with the recent listing of the group also creating 
additional costs that have contributed to this balance. 
As the majority of the group is also trading companies 
this has also been taken into consideration.

The most adequate basis is for materiality to be 
based on the net loss, which is consistent with our 
understanding of the growth of the business year on 
year, with the recent listing of the group also creating 
additional costs that have contributed to this balance. 
As the majority of the group is also trading companies 
this has also been taken into consideration.

 For each component in the scope of our Group audit, we allocated a materiality that is less than our overall Group materiality. 
The range of materiality allocated across components was between £700 and £6,000.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above £132,000 
(Group audit) and £118,000 (Company audit) as well as misstatements below those amounts that, in our view, warranted 
reporting for qualitative reasons.

An overview of the scope of our audit
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial 
statements. In particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective judgments, for example in respect of significant 
accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all 
of our audits we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including evaluating whether there was 
evidence of bias by the directors that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

How we tailored the audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial 
statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group and the Company, the accounting processes and controls, 
and the industry in which they operate.

We performed audits of the complete financial information for Aptamer Group Plc, Aptamer Solutions Limited, Aptamer 
Diagnostics Limited, Aptamer Therapeutics Limited, Aptasort Limited, which were individually financially significant and 
accounted for over 100% of the Group’s revenue and over 100% of the Group’s absolute loss before tax (i.e. the sum of the 
numerical values without regard to whether they were profits or losses for the relevant reporting units). The Group engagement 
team performed all audit procedures.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual 
report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not 
cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a 
material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Aptamer Group Plc continued
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Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

 — the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements 
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

 — the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and parent company and its environment obtained in the course of 
the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report 
to you if, in our opinion:

 — adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been 
received from branches not visited by us; or

 — the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

 — certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

 — we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out, the directors are responsible for the preparation of 
the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and parent company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with 
our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to 
which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed overleaf.
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For the year ended 30 June 2022

The extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities including fraud
Our approach to identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, including fraud and 
non-compliance with laws and regulations, was as follows:

 — the senior statutory auditor ensured the engagement team collectively had the appropriate competence, capabilities and 
skills to identify or recognise non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations;

 — we identified the laws and regulations applicable to the group through discussions with directors and other management.

 — we focused on specific laws and regulations which we considered may have a direct material effect on the financial 
statements or the operations of the company, including taxation legislation, data protection, anti-bribery, employment, 
environmental, health and safety legislation and anti-money laundering regulations.

 — we assessed the extent of compliance with the laws and regulations identified above through making enquiries of 
management and inspecting legal correspondence.

 — identified laws and regulations were communicated within the audit team regularly and the team remained alert to instances 
of non-compliance throughout the audit; and

 — we assessed the susceptibility of the group’s financial statements to material misstatement, including obtaining an 
understanding of how fraud might occur, by:

 — making enquiries of management as to where they considered there was susceptibility to fraud, their knowledge of 
actual, suspected and alleged fraud;

 — considering the internal controls in place to mitigate risks of fraud and non-compliance with laws and regulations.

To address the risk of fraud through management bias and override of controls, we:

 — performed analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships;

 — tested journal entries to identify unusual transactions;

 — assessed whether judgements and assumptions made in determining the accounting estimates set out in note 2 of the Group 
financial statements were indicative of potential bias;

 — investigated the rationale behind significant or unusual transactions.

 — In response to the risk of irregularities and non-compliance with laws and regulations, we designed procedures which 
included, but were not limited to:

 — agreeing financial statement disclosures to underlying supporting documentation;

 — reading the minutes of meetings of those charged with governance;

 — enquiring of management as to actual and potential litigation and claims;

 — reviewing correspondence with HMRC and the group’s legal advisors.

There are inherent limitations in our audit procedures described above. The more removed those laws and regulations are from 
financial transactions, the less likely it is that we would become aware of noncompliance. Auditing standards also limit the audit 
procedures required to identify non-compliance with laws and regulations to enquiry of the directors and other management and 
the inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if any.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Aptamer Group Plc continued
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We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting 
Council’s website at:

www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Use of this report
This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 
2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to 
state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for 
the opinions we have formed.

Sanjay Parmar (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of Jeffreys Henry Audit Limited, Statutory Auditor
 
Finsgate 
5-7 Cranwood Street 
London EC1V 9EE

17 October 2022
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 30 June 2022

Notes

Year ended  
30 June 2022 

£’000

15-month  
period ended  
30 June 2021 

£’000

Revenue 3 4,036 1,600

Cost of sales (1,351) (927)

Gross profit 2,685 673

Administrative expenses 4 (4,352) (3,126)

Other operating income 5 3 5

Adjusted EBITDA (1,664) (2,448)

Depreciation and impairment (including loss on disposal of assets) (433) (345)

Amortisation of intangible assets (22) (24)

Share-based payment expense (457) (55)

Operating loss (2,576) (2,872)

Finance costs 9 (62) (38)

Loss before taxation (2,638) (2,910)

Taxation 10 545 598

Loss and total comprehensive expense (2,093) (2,312)

Basic loss per share 30 3.24p 3.92p

Diluted loss per share 30 3.24p 3.92p

There were no items of other comprehensive income in the current or prior period. Accordingly, no statement of other 
comprehensive income has been prepared. 
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Consolidated statement of financial position
As at 30 June 2022

Notes
30 June 2022 

£’000
30 June 2021 

£’000

Assets

Non-current 

Other intangible assets 11 341 222

Property, plant and equipment 12 483 284

Right-of-use assets 13 1,340 235

Other receivables 18 379 –

2,543 741

Current

Inventories 17 420 90

Trade and other receivables 18 1,866 864

Cash and cash equivalents 6,691 369

8,977 1,323

Total assets 11,520 2,064

Current liabilities 19 (2,374) (1,865)

Net current assets/(liabilities) 6,603 (542)

Non-current liabilities 20 (1,060) (68)

Provisions for liabilities 23 (35) (26)

Net assets 8,051 105

Equity 

Issued share capital 29 69 30

Share premium 31 9,573 5,203

Group reorganisation reserve 31 185 185

Share-based payment reserve 31 538 83

Accumulated losses (2,314) (5,396)

Equity attributable to shareholders 8,051 105

The notes on pages 69 to 102 form an integral part of these Financial Statements. 

The financial statements of Aptamer Group PLC (registered number 09061413) were approved by the Board and authorised for 
issue on 17 October 2022.

On behalf of the Board

Dr A C Tolley 
Director
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Notes
30 June 2022 

£’000
30 June 2021 

£’000

Assets

Non-current 

Investments 14 418 418

Other intangible assets 11 168 182

Property, plant and equipment 12 245 89

Right-of-use assets 13 1,192 51

Other receivables 18 373 –

2,396 740

Current

Trade and other receivables 18 3,055 3,142

Cash and cash equivalents 5,482 142

8,537 3,284

Total assets 10,933 4,024

Current liabilities 19 (1,511) (982)

Net current assets 7,026 2,302

Non-current liabilities 20 (1,060) (39)

Provisions for liabilities 23 (35) (26)

Net assets 8,327 2,977

Equity 

Issued share capital 29 69 30

Share premium 31 9,573 5,203

Share-based payment reserve 31 538 83

Accumulated losses (1,853) (2,339)

Equity attributable to shareholders 8,327 2,977

The notes on pages 69 to 102 form an integral part of these Financial Statements. 

As permitted by s408 of the Companies Act 2006, Aptamer Group PLC has not presented its own income statement. The loss for 
the financial year within the financial statements of the holding company was £4,689,000 (2021: £1,247,000).

The financial statements of Aptamer Group PLC (registered number 09061413) were approved by the Board and authorised for 
issue on 17 October 2022.

On behalf of the Board

Dr A C Tolley 
Director 

Company statement of financial position 
As at 30 June 2022
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2022

Notes

Issued share 
capital 
£’000

Share 
premium 

£’000

Group 
reorganisation 

reserve  
£’000

Share-based 
payment 

reserve 
£’000

Retained 
earnings 

£’000 

Total 
equity 
£’000

Balance at 1 April 2020 28 3,088 185 28 (3,084) 245

Loss and total comprehensive 
expense for the period – – – – (2,312) (2,312)

Issue of share capital 29 2 2,115 – – – 2,117

Credit to equity for equity-
settled share-based payments 32 – – – 55 – 55

Balance at 30 June 2021 30 5,203 185 83 (5,396) 105

Loss and total comprehensive 
expense for the year – – – – (2,093) (2,093)

Issue of share capital net of 
transaction costs 29 9 9,573 – – – 9,582

Share capital bonus issue 29 30 – – – (30) –

Capital reduction 29 – (5,203) – – 5,203 –

Credit to equity for equity-
settled share-based payments 32 – – – 455 2 457

Balance at 30 June 2022 69 9,573 185 538 (2,314) 8,051
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Company statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2022

Notes

Issued share 
capital 
£’000

Share 
premium 

£’000

Share-based 
payment 

reserve 
£’000

Retained 
earnings 

£’000

Total 
equity 
£’000

Balance at 1 April 2020 28 3,088 28 (1,092) 2,052

Period ended 30 June 2021:

Loss and total comprehensive  
expense for the period – – – (1,247) (1,247)

Issue of share capital 29 2 2,115 – – 2,117

Credit to equity for equity-settled  
share-based payments 32 – – 55 – 55

Balance at 30 June 2021 30 5,203 83 (2,339) 2,977

Year ended 30 June 2022:

Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year – – – (4,689) (4,689)

Issue of share capital net of  
transaction costs 29 9 9,573 – – 9,582

Share capital bonus issue 29 30 – – (30) –

Capital reduction 29 – (5,203) – 5,203 –

Credit to equity for equity-settled  
share-based payment 32 – – 455 2 457

Balance at 30 June 2022 69 9,573 538 (1,853) 8,327
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2022

Notes

Year ended  
30 June 2022 

£’000

15-month  
period ended  
30 June 2021 

£’000

Cash flows from operating activities 

Cash used in operations 33 (2,973) (1,641)

Income taxes received 598 267

Net cash used in operating activities (2,375) (1,374)

Investing activities 

Purchase of intangible assets (141) (227)

Purchase of tangible assets (277) (197)

Net cash used in investing activities (418) (424)

Financing activities

Issue of share capital, net of issue costs 9,582 2,116

Loans (10) 49

Payment of lease liabilities (395) (252)

Interest paid (62) (39)

Net cash generated from financing activities 9,115 1,874

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 6,322 76

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 369 293

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 6,691 369
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Company statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2022

Notes

Year ended  
30 June 2022 

£’000

15-month  
period ended  
30 June 2021 

£’000

Cash flows from operating activities 

Cash used in operations 33 (3,690) (1,726)

Income taxes paid – 101

Net cash used in operating activities (3,690) (1,625)

Investing activities 

Purchase of intangible assets (14) (185)

Purchase of tangible assets (259) (77)

Proceeds on disposal of fixed assets – 44

Net cash used in investing activities (273) (218)

Financing activities

Issue of share capital 9,582 2,116

Loans (10) 47

Payment of lease liabilities (238) (234)

Interest paid (31) (8)

Net cash generated from financing activities 9,303 1,921

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 5,340 78

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 142 64

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 5,482 142
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Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2022

1 Accounting policies
Company information
Aptamer Group PLC (“the Company”) is a company limited by shares, domiciled, and incorporated in the United Kingdom and 
registered in England and Wales. The registered office is Windmill House, Innovation Way, York, YO10 5BR. 

The Group consists of Aptamer Group PLC and all of its subsidiaries. The Group is a leading provider of Optimer® reagents for 
use by customers in research, diagnostics and therapeutics. Aptamer Group PLC has developed a platform technology which  
is utilised by its three trading subsidiary companies to solve problems for pharmaceutical and biotechnology customers in the 
bioprocessing, research reagents, diagnostic and therapeutic areas of the life sciences. 

1.1 Accounting convention
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with UK adopted International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) and International Financial Reporting Committee (“IFRC”) Interpretations that are applicable to the consolidated 
financial statements for the year ending 30 June 2022, and with those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies 
reporting under IFRS. 

These accounting policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

These consolidated financial statements are the first published consolidated financial statements of Aptamer Group PLC 
prepared in accordance with UK adopted International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The consolidated financial 
statements of Aptamer Group PLC were previously prepared under Financial Reporting Standard FRS 102 “The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”.

Some of the IFRS recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure requirements and accounting policy choices differ from 
UK GAAP. Consequently, the Directors have amended certain accounting policies to comply with IFRS. The Directors have also 
taken advantage of certain exemptions from the requirements of IFRS permitted by IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of International 
Financial Reporting Standards”. The exemptions taken are set out in note 38. 

Comparative figures have been restated to reflect the adjustments made, except to the extent that the Directors have taken 
advantage of exemptions to retrospective application of IFRS permitted by IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of International Financial 
Reporting Standards”.

Reconciliations and descriptions of the effect of the transition to IFRS on the consolidated and Company equity and the consolidated 
and Company total comprehensive income previously reported under UK GAAP are given in note 38. 

These financial statements are prepared in sterling which is the functional currency of the Group and the Company. Monetary 
amounts in these financial statements are rounded to the nearest thousand pounds.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.

1.2 Reporting period
These financial statements were prepared for the year ended 30 June 2022. Prior year financial statements are for a period of  
15 months from 1 April 2020 to 30 June 2021, therefore the comparative figures are not comparable. 

1.3 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate those of Aptamer Group PLC and all of its subsidiaries’ (i.e. entities 
that the Group controls through its power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain economic benefits). 
The subsidiaries consolidated in these Group accounts were acquired via Group reorganisation and as such merger accounting 
principles have been applied.

Financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries are made up to 30 June 2022. The subsidiaries financial figures 
are included for their entire financial period rather than from the date the Company took control of them. Where necessary, 
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with those 
used by other members of the Group.
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Notes to the financial statements continued
For the year ended 30 June 2022

1 Accounting policies continued
1.3 Basis of consolidation continued
The Company acquired its 100% interest in Aptamer Solutions Limited (2015) and Aptamer Diagnostics Limited (2018) by 
way of a share for share exchange. The Company also acquired 100% of the share capital of Aptamer Therapeutics Limited and 
Aptasort Limited from Dr Arron Tolley in 2015. This is a business combination involving entities under common control and the 
consolidated financial statements are issued in the name of the Group, but they are a continuance of those of Aptamer Solutions 
Limited and Aptamer Diagnostics Limited. Therefore, the assets and liabilities of Aptamer Solutions Limited and Aptamer 
Diagnostics Limited have been recognised and measured in these consolidated financial statements at their pre-combination 
carrying values. The retained earnings and other equity balances recognised in these consolidated financial statements are the 
retained earnings and other equity balances of the Company, Aptamer Solutions Limited and Aptamer Diagnostics Limited. The 
equity structure that appears in these consolidated financial statements (the number and the type of equity instruments issued) 
reflects the equity structure of the Company including equity instruments issued by the Company to affect the consolidation. 
The difference between consideration given and net assets of Aptamer Solutions Limited and Aptamer Diagnostics Limited at the 
date of acquisition is included in a Group reorganisation reserve. 

All intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated on 
consolidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the 
asset transferred.

Equity method 
Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise 
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share of movements 
in other comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends received or receivable from associates 
and joint ventures are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment. 

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity, including any 
other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made 
payments on behalf of the other entity. 

Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. 
Accounting policies of equity-accounted investees have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Group. 

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments are tested for impairment in accordance with the policy described in note 1.12.

1.4 Going concern
These financial statements are prepared on the basis that the Group is a going concern. In forming its opinion as to going concern, 
the Board prepares forecasts based upon its assumptions with particular consideration to the key risks and uncertainties as 
summarised on pages 40 to 41. The going concern period assessed is until October 2023 which has been selected as it can be 
projected with a good degree of expected accuracy.

The forecasts prepared reflect a range of sensitivities including a severe but plausible scenario together with mitigating actions. 
The forecasts, using the downside assumptions, still ensure that the Group has sufficient cash to meet its operating requirements. 
However, the Group acknowledges that there is some uncertainty around the timing of receivables including the R&D tax credit. 
Based on these considerations, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to meet its 
liabilities as they arise for at least 12 months from the approval of these financial statements and, consequently, the Directors 
have adopted the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of these financial statements. 

1.5 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published and are not mandatory for the 30 June 2022 reporting 
period and have not been early adopted by the Group. These standards are not expected to have a material impact on the entity 
in the current or future reporting periods. 
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1.6 Revenue 
Revenue from contracts with customers
Research activities 
The Group’s main source of revenue is fees for research activities carried out under contracts with customers. These contracts 
can be in progress over accounting period ends and consist of separate phases with fixed attributable income attached to each 
phase. The contract contains performance obligations set out for each phase. In most cases that customer has a right to proceed 
or cease the research work at the end of each phase.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies the performance obligations in respect of each phase of work. The Group has 
made enhancements in internal systems during the last quarter of the current financial year which allow it to reliably allocate 
transaction prices to performance obligations within each phase of work. Accordingly, the Group recognises revenue over time 
as each performance obligation is satisfied.

No revenue is recognised in relation to subsequent contract phases until the customer has elected to progress to that phase and 
the above criteria in relation to satisfaction of performance obligations has been met. 

Revenue is measured at the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to receive. If the consideration is receivable 
more than 12 months after the transaction date and the effect of discounting is material, the revenue amount recognised is 
discounted to its present value at the transaction date, using a discount rate which reflects customer risk, and the unwinding of 
this discount is recognised as financial income over the period until the date the consideration is due. Typically, the Group does 
not enter into transactions whereby revenue is variable or contains non-cash consideration, or is subject to reversals of income.

Costs incurred in fulfilling a contract phase, which include internal labour costs and materials, are recognised in the balance 
sheet until the satisfaction of performance obligations where: 

 — the costs relate directly to a contract that the Group can specifically identify; 

 — the costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance 
obligations in the future; and 

 — the costs are expected to be recovered.

1.7 Research and development expenditure
An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised where the 
following criteria are met: 

 — it is technically feasible to complete the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale; 

 — management intends to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it; 

 — there is ability to use or sell the intangible asset; 

 — it can be demonstrated that the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits; 

 — there is evidence of existence of a market for the output of the intangible asset or the intangible asset itself or, if it is to be 
used internally, the usefulness of the intangible asset; 

 — adequate technical, financial and other resources exist to complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and 

 — the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development can be reliably measured. 

Research expenditure and development expenditure that do not meet the criteria above are written off against profits in the year 
in which they are incurred. Identifiable development expenditure is capitalised to the extent that the technical, commercial and 
financial feasibility can be demonstrated.
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For the year ended 30 June 2022

Notes to the financial statements continued

1 Accounting policies continued
1.8 Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately from a business are recognised at cost and are subsequently measured at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired on business combinations are recognised separately from goodwill at the acquisition date where it is 
probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity and the fair value of 
the asset can be measured reliably.

The depreciable amount of an intangible asset with a finite life is allocated on a systematic basis over its useful life. 
Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets with a finite useful life is reviewed each financial year 
end. If the expected useful life of the asset is different from previous estimates, the amortisation period is changed accordingly.

Amortisation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets less their residual values over their useful lives on the 
following bases:

 — Product development and registrations  typically 10-15 years on a straight-line basis

1.9 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the items. Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains or losses on qualifying cash 
flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs 
and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are incurred. 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost or revalued amounts of the assets, net of their 
residual values, over their estimated useful lives or, in the case of leasehold improvements and certain leased plant and equipment, 
the shorter lease term as follows: 

 — Other property, plant and equipment  6 years on a straight-line basis

 — Fixtures, fittings and equipment   6 years on a straight-line basis 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. 

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than 
its estimated recoverable amount. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in profit or loss. 
When revalued assets are sold, it is Group policy to transfer any amounts included in other reserves in respect of those assets to 
retained earnings.

1.10 Right-of-use assets
A right-of-use asset is recognised at commencement of the lease and initially measured at the amount of the lease liability, plus 
any incremental costs of obtaining the lease and any lease payments made at or before the leased asset is available for use 
by the Group. 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 
The depreciation methods applied are as follows:

 — Right-of use assets   Shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a 
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. 

Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise IT equipment and small items  
of office furniture. 

The right-of-use asset is subject to impairment and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability and lease modifications.
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1.11 Fixed asset investments
Equity investments are measured at fair value through profit or loss, except for those equity investments that are not publicly 
traded and whose fair value cannot otherwise be measured reliably, which are recognised at cost less impairment until a reliable 
measure of fair value becomes available.

In the parent Company financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured 
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. The investments are assessed for impairment at each reporting date and any 
impairment losses or reversals of impairment losses are recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Company. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the 
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

1.12 Impairment of non-current assets
At each reporting period end date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-current assets to determine whether there 
is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of 
the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the 
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which 
the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in 
the income statement, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation decrease.

Recognised impairment losses are reversed if, and only if, the reasons for the impairment loss have ceased to apply. Where an 
impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of 
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the income statement, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, 
in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

1.13 Inventories
Raw materials and stores, work in progress and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and estimated selling price less 
costs to complete and sell. Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed 
overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity. Cost includes the reclassification 
from equity of any gains or losses on qualifying cash flow hedges relating to purchases of raw materials but excludes borrowing 
costs. Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis of weighted average costs. Costs of purchased inventory 
are determined after deducting rebates and discounts. 

At each reporting date, an assessment is made for impairment. Any excess of the carrying amount of stocks over its estimated 
selling price less costs to complete and sell is recognised as an impairment loss in the income statement. Reversals of impairment 
losses are also recognised in the income statement.

1.14 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are basic financial assets and include cash in hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions and 
other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

1.15 Financial instruments
Financial instruments are recognised in the Group's statement of financial position when the Group becomes party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amounts presented in the financial statements, when there is a legally 
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously.
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Notes to the financial statements continued
For the year ended 30 June 2022

1 Accounting policies continued
1.15 Financial instruments continued
Financial assets
Financial assets are recognised in the Group’s statement of financial position when the Group becomes party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are classified into specified categories, depending on the nature and purpose of the 
financial assets. 

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

 — those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through Other comprehensive income (OCI) or through profit or loss); and 

 — those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the  
cash flows. 

At initial recognition, financial assets classified as fair value through profit and loss are measured at fair value and any 
transaction costs are recognised in the income statement. Financial assets not classified as fair value through profit and loss  
are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. 

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are 
solely payment of principal or interest. 

Debt instruments 
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash flow 
characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments: 

 — Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows, where those cash flows represent solely 
payments of principal and interest, are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets is included 
in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in 
profit or loss and presented in other gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are 
presented as a separate line item in the statement of profit or loss. 

 — Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI): Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for 
selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured 
at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, 
interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses, which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is 
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and 
recognised in other gains/(losses). Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income using the 
effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in other gains/(losses), and impairment 
expenses are presented as a separate line item in the statement of profit or loss. 

 — Fair value through profit and loss (FVPL): Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at 
FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and presented 
net within other gains/(losses) in the period in which it arises. 

Impairment of financial assets
An impairment loss is recognised for the expected credit losses on financial assets where there is an increased probability that 
the counterparty will be unable to settle an instrument’s contractual cashflows on contractual due dates, a reduction in the amounts 
expected to be recovered, or both.

The probability of default and expected amounts recoverable are assessed using reasonable, and supportable past and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. The expected credit loss on trade receivables is a probability 
weighted amount determined from grouping the receivables based on days overdue and making assumptions based on historic 
information to allocate an overall expected credit loss rate for each group.

Derecognition of financial assets
Financial assets are derecognised only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or are settled, or 
when the Group transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to another entity, or if 
some significant risks and rewards of ownership are retained but control of the asset has transferred to another party that is 
able to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party.
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Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. 

Financial liabilities, including borrowings, trade payables and other payables, are initially measured at fair value net of 
transaction costs directly attributable to the issuance of the financial liability. They are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. For the purposes of each financial liability, interest expense includes initial transaction 
costs and any premium payable on redemption, as well as any interest or coupon payable while the liability is outstanding. 

Derecognition of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are derecognised when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled, or they expire. 

Equity instruments 
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Dividends payable on 
equity instruments are recognised as liabilities once they are no longer at the discretion of the Group. 

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected to present 
fair value gains and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to 
profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be recognised in profit 
or loss as other income when the Group’s right to receive payments is established. 

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised in other gains/(losses) in the statement of profit or loss as 
applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported 
separately from other changes in fair value. 

1.16 Taxation
The income tax expense or credit represents the sum of the tax currently payable or receivable on the current period’s taxable 
income or loss, based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and 
liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

Current tax
The tax currently payable or receivable is based on taxable profit or loss for the period. Taxable profit differs from net profit as 
reported in the profit and loss account because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other 
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. 

The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting 
end date. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax 
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions, where appropriate, on the basis of amounts expected to be paid 
to the tax authorities. 

Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to 
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Deferred tax
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are 
not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from 
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income 
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary 
differences and losses. 
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Notes to the financial statements continued
For the year ended 30 June 2022

1 Accounting policies continued
1.16 Taxation continued
Deferred tax continued
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of 
investments in foreign operations where the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences 
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities 
and where the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. 

1.17 Provisions
Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make good obligations are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive 
present obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by 
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any 
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

The amount recognised as a provision is the management’s best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the reporting end date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. The discount rate 
used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest expense. 

1.18 Employee benefits
Short-term obligations
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave that are expected to 
be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service are recognised in 
respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when 
the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as current employee benefit obligations in the balance sheet.

Termination benefits are recognised immediately as an expense when the Group is demonstrably committed to terminate the 
employment of an employee or to provide termination benefits.

Retirement benefits
The Group operates a defined contribution pension plan. Payments to the defined contribution pension plan are charged as an 
expense as they fall due.

Share-based payments
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the Aptamer Group EMI Share Option Scheme and unapproved 
share options. Information relating to these schemes is set out in note 32. 

Employee options
The fair value of options granted under the Aptamer Group EMI Share Option Scheme and unapproved share options is 
recognised as an employee benefits expense, with a corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be expensed is 
determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted: 

 — including any market performance conditions (e.g., the entity’s share price); 

 — excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions (e.g., profitability, sales growth targets 
and remaining an employee of the entity over a specified time period); and 

 — including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (e.g., the requirement for employees to save or hold shares for a specific 
period of time). 

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions 
are to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest 
based on the non-market vesting and service conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in 
profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
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1.19 Leases
On commencement of a contract which gives the Group the right to use an asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration, 
the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability unless the lease qualifies as a “short-term” lease (term is 12 months or 
less with no option to purchase the lease asset) or a “low-value” lease (where the underlying asset is £4,000 or less when new).

Initial measurement of the lease liability
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments during the lease term, discounted using  
the interest rate implicit in the lease, or the incremental borrowing rate if the interest rate implicit in the lease cannot be  
readily determined.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group: 

 — where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect 
changes in financing conditions since third-party financing was received; 

 — uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the Group, which 
does not have recent third-party financing; and 

 — makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country, currency and security.

The lease is the non-cancellable period of the lease plus extension periods that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise and 
termination periods that the Group is reasonably certain not to exercise. 

Lease payments include fixed payments, less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments dependent on an index 
or a rate (such as those linked to LIBOR), amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees and 
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising that option. Variable lease 
payments are initially measured using the index or rate when the leased asset is available for use. 

Subsequent measurement of the lease liability
The lease liability is subsequently increased for a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease 
liability and reduced for lease payments.

Interest on the lease liability is recognised in the income statement. Variable lease payments not included in the measurement 
of the lease liability as they are not dependent on an index or rate are recognised in the income statement in the period in which 
the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs.

When the lease liability is remeasured due to changes arising from the original terms and conditions of the lease, the corresponding 
adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or income statement if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to nil.

A lease modification that was not part of the original terms and conditions of the lease is accounted for as a separate lease  
or an adjustment to the lease liability depending on the nature of the change.

1.20 Government grants
Government grants are recognised at the fair value of the asset received or receivable when there is reasonable assurance that 
the grant conditions will be met, and the grants will be received.

A grant that specifies performance conditions is recognised in income when the performance conditions are met. Where a grant 
does not specify performance conditions it is recognised in income when the proceeds are received or receivable. A grant received 
before the recognition criteria is satisfied is recognised as a liability.

1.21 Foreign exchange
Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in Great British Pounds sterling, which is the functional and presentation currency of each of the Group’s entities.

Transactions and balances 
Transactions in currencies other than functional currency are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. At each reporting end date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 
at the rates prevailing on the reporting end date. Gains and losses arising on translation in the period are recognised in the income 
statement. They are deferred in equity if they relate to qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges or are 
attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign operation. 
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Notes to the financial statements continued
For the year ended 30 June 2022

1 Accounting policies continued
1.21 Foreign exchange continued
Transactions and balances continued
Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in the statement of profit or loss, within finance  
costs. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement of profit or loss on a net basis within other 
gains/(losses). 

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date 
when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of 
the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at 
fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss, and translation differences 
on non-monetary assets such as equities classified as at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

1.22 Finance costs
Finance costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Interest paid is included under financing activities in the 
statement of cash flows.

2 Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the Directors are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
about the carrying amount of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates, judgements, and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised, if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The estimates and judgements that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below.

(i) Revenue recognition 
The Group assesses the point at which performance obligations under contracts with customers are satisfied and accordingly 
when revenue is recognised in the financial statements. It also capitalises only directly attributable costs associated with the 
fulfilment of contracts as an asset in the statement of financial position, and only when the costs and their future benefit can be 
assessed with reasonable certainty.

(ii) Impairment of trade and other receivables 
The Group makes an estimate of the recoverable value of trade and other receivables. When assessing impairment of trade and 
other receivables, management considers factors including the credit rating of the receivable, the ageing profile of receivables 
and historical experience. As at 30 June 2022, the provision for trade receivables impairment amounted to £nil (2021: £nil).

(iii) Impairment of investments
Interests in subsidiary undertakings are reviewed annually to assess whether there is objective evidence to indicate that either 
the carrying value of interests are impaired or impairments recognised in prior periods require to be reversed. Recoverable value 
of the subsidiary undertaking is estimated as the higher of value-in-use or fair value less cost of disposal. Fair value is based on 
net assets and incorporates adjustments to reflect the fair market value. See note 14 for the carrying amount of the investments.

(iv) Impairment of intangible assets
Product development and registration costs are recognised at historical cost and are amortised on a straight-line basis over their 
useful life, which is typically 10–15 years. In the case of registration costs where the asset is not in use, amortisation commences 
from the date of grant. The Group assesses these assets for impairment on an annual basis by comparing their carrying value with 
the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is based on an assessment of the assets’ value-in-use. The Group considers the 
cash-generating unit to which these assets belong and uses discounted cashflows from these cash-generating units to determine 
the value-in-use. The Group sensitises these results and determines if there is an impairment of intangible assets.
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(v) R&D tax credits
The current tax receivable represents an R&D tax credit based on an advance claim with HMRC. The final receivable is subject to 
HMRC approval.

3 Revenue
Group revenue analysed by class of business
The Company and Group comprise a single operating segment being research and experimental development of biotechnology. 

Group revenue analysed by geographical market
Revenue recognised in the income statement is analysed by geographical market as follows: 

Year ended  
30 June 2022 

£’000

15-month  
period ended  
30 June 2021 

£’000

United Kingdom 597 363

Europe 325 182

Rest of the World 3,114 1,055

4,036 1,600

All assets are located in, and services delivered from, the United Kingdom. 

An analysis of revenue by customer is set out in the table below:

Year ended  
30 June 2022 

£’000

15-month  
period ended  
30 June 2021 

£’000

Customer A 814 –

Customer B 765 72

Customer C 67 183

Customer D – 170

All other customers 2,390 1,175

4,036 1,600

During the year the Group recognised revenue from performance obligations satisfied during the year. All of the Group’s contracts 
are for the delivery of service within the next 12 months for which the practical expedient in paragraph 121(a) of IFRS 15 applies. 
The entire revenue of the Group relates to its contracts with customers. 

4 Analysis of expenses by nature

Note

Year ended  
30 June 2022 

£’000

15-month  
period ended  
30 June 2021 

£’000

Auditors’ remuneration 6 52 –

Employee remuneration 7 2,943 1,872

Amortisation of intangible assets 11 22 24

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 12 97 75

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 13 276 226

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1 44

Research and development expenses 848 614

Share-based payment expenses 457 55

Raw materials and consumables used 490 483
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Notes to the financial statements continued
For the year ended 30 June 2022

5 Other operating income

Year ended  
30 June 2022 

£’000

15-month  
period ended  
30 June 2021 

£’000

Government grants 3 5

The Group received funding from a government grant scheme and has complied with the conditions of the funding throughout  
the year/period. 

6 Auditors’ remuneration
Fees payable to the Group’s auditors and associates:

Year ended  
30 June 2022 

£’000

15-month  
period ended  
30 June 2021 

£’000

For audit services 
Audit of the financial statements of the Group and Company 52 –

For non-audit services
Review of interim financial statements 4 –

Reporting Accountant in relation to AIM admission document 129 –

185 –

7 Employees
The average monthly number of persons (including Directors) employed by the Group and Company during the year was:

Group and Company

Year ended 
30 June 2022 

Number

15-month 
period ended  
30 June 2021  

Number

Administration and support 9 7

Production 22 15

Research and development 5 4

Sales 8 5

44 31

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:

Group and Company

Year ended  
30 June 2022 

£’000

15-month  
period ended  
30 June 2021 

£’000

Wages and salaries 2,651 1,674

Social security costs 264 170

Other pension costs 28 28

Staff costs charged to income statement 2,943 1,872

8 Directors’ remuneration
Information about emoluments paid to Directors, including the highest paid Director, have been included in the Remuneration 
Committee report shown on pages 48 to 51. 
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9 Finance costs

Year ended  
30 June 2022 

£’000

15-month  
period ended  
30 June 2021 

£’000

Interest on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Bank charges 2 –

Other interest on financial liabilities 23 31

25 31

Other finance costs 

Interest payable on lease liabilities 23 5

Foreign exchange loss 14 2

Total finance costs 62 38

Other interest on financial liabilities relates to assets held under leases. Refer to note 21 for more details on the Group’s 
outstanding loans and borrowings.

10 Taxation

Year ended  
30 June 2022 

£’000

15-month  
period ended  
30 June 2021 

£’000

Current tax

UK corporation credit on loss for the current year/period (546) (598)

Adjustments in respect of prior periods 1 –

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of timing differences – –

Total tax credit (545) (598)

The actual credit for the year can be reconciled to the expected credit for the year based on the profit or loss and the standard 
rate of tax as follows:

Year ended  
30 June 2022 

£’000

15-month  
period ended  
30 June 2021 

£’000

Loss before taxation (2,638) (2,910)

Expected tax credit based on the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK  
of 19% (2021: 19%) (501) (553)

Expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit 42 –

Research and development tax relief (239) (459)

Surrender of tax losses for R&D tax credit refund – 186

Remeasurement of deferred tax for changes in tax rates – (148)

Deferred tax asset not recognised 152 376

Adjustments in respect of prior periods 1 –

Taxation credit in the financial statements (545) (598)

As at 30 June 2022 the Group had unrelieved tax losses of approximately £3,805,000 (2021: £2,680,000). A deferred tax asset 
has not been recognised in respect of these losses. Please see note 24 for further details. 
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Notes to the financial statements continued
For the year ended 30 June 2022

11 Intangible assets 
Group Company 

Product 
development 

& registrations 
£’000

Total  
£’000

Product 
development 

& registrations 
£’000

Total  
£’000

Cost

At 1 April 2020 – – – –

Transition adjustment under IFRS 1.C4 22 22 18 18

At 1 April 2020 22 22 18 18

Additions – internally generated 108 108 66 66

Additions – externally acquired 119 119 119 119

At 30 June 2021 249 249 203 203

Additions – internally generated 141 141 14 14

At 30 June 2022 390 390 217 217

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 April 2020 – – – –

Transition adjustment under IFRS 1.C4 3 3 3 3

At 1 April 2020 3 3 3 3

Charge for the period 24 24 18 18

At 30 June 2021 27 27 21 21

Charge for the year 22 22 28 28

At 30 June 2022 49 49 49 49

Carrying amount

At 30 June 2022 341 341 168 168

At 30 June 2021 222 222 182 182

At 1 April 2020 19 19 15 15

An amortisation charge of £22,000 (2021: £24,000) has been disclosed separately on the Group Income Statement. 
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12 Property, plant and equipment
Group Company 

Other 
property, 
plant and 

equipment  
£’000

Fixtures, 
fittings and 
equipment  

£’000
Total  

£’000

Other 
property, 
plant and 

equipment  
£’000

Fixtures, 
fittings and 
equipment  

£’000
Total  

£’000

Cost

At 1 April 2020 533 20 553 59 8 67

Transition adjustments – – – – – –

At 1 April 2020 533 20 553 59 8 67

Additions 65 10 75 65 10 75

Disposals (26) – (26) (10) – (10)

At 30 June 2021 572 30 602 114 18 132

Additions 346 10 356 250 10 260

Disposals (10) – (10) (1) – (1)

Transfers – – – – – –

At 30 June 2022 908 40 948 363 28 391

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 April 2020 252 13 265 28 2 30

Transition adjustments – – – – – –

At 1 April 2020 252 13 265 28 2 30

Charge for the period 71 4 75 15 4 19

Disposals (22) – (22) (6) – (6)

At 30 June 2021 301 17 318 37 6 43

Charge for the year 93 4 97 40 4 44

Disposals (9) – (9) – – –

Impairment 59 – 59 59 – 59

At 30 June 2022 444 21 465 136 10 146

Carrying amount

At 30 June 2022 464 19 483 227 18 245

At 30 June 2021 271 13 284 77 12 89

At 1 April 2020 281 7 288 31 6 37
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Notes to the financial statements continued
For the year ended 30 June 2022

13 Right-of-use assets
Group Company

Buildings  
£’000

Plant and 
machinery  

£’000
Total  

£’000
Buildings  

£’000

Plant and 
machinery  

£’000
Total  

£’000

Cost

At 1 April 2020 – – – – – –

Transition adjustments 169 12 181 169 12 181

At 1 April 2020 169 12 181 169 12 181

Additions 201 217 418 201 – 201

Disposals (201) (6) (207) (201) (6) (207)

At 30 June 2021 169 223 392 169 6 175

Additions 1,225 204 1,429 1,225 204 1,429

Disposals (169) – (169) (169) – (169)

At 30 June 2022 1,225 427 1,652 1,225 210 1,435

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 April 2020 – – – – – –

Transition adjustments 92 6 98 92 6 98

At 1 April 2020 92 6  98 92 6  98

Charge for the period 191 35 226 191 2 193

Disposals (161) (6) (167) (161) (6) (167)

At 30 June 2021 122 35 157 122 2 124

Charge for the year 230 46 276 230 10 240

Disposals (168) – (168) (168) – (168)

Lease modification 47 – 47 47 – 47

At 30 June 2022 231 81 312 231 12 243

Carrying amount

At 30 June 2022 994 346 1,340 994 198 1,192

At 30 June 2021 47 188 235 47 4 51

At 1 April 2020 77 6 83 77 6 83
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14 Investments
Group Company

2022  
£’000

2021  
£’000

2022  
£’000

2021  
£’000

Investment in subsidiaries – – 418 418

Movements in investments

Parent Company

 Investments 
other than loans 

£’000

Cost or valuation 

At 1 July 2021 and 30 June 2022 418

Carrying amount 

At 30 June 2022 418

At 30 June 2021 418

Details of the subsidiaries can be found in note 15. The Directors believe that the carrying value of investments is supported by 
their underlying assets.

15 Subsidiaries
Details of the Company's subsidiaries at 30 June 2022 are as follows:

Name of undertaking Registered office
Nature of 
business

Class of  
shares held

%  
Held 

direct

Aptamer Solutions Limited Windmill House, Innovation Way, 
York, YO10 5BR

Research and 
development

Ordinary 100

Aptamer Therapeutics Limited Windmill House, Innovation Way, 
York, YO10 5BR

Research and 
development 

Ordinary 100

Aptamer Diagnostics Limited Windmill House, Innovation Way, 
York, YO10 5BR

Research and 
development 

Ordinary 100

Aptasort Limited (dormant) Windmill House, Innovation Way, 
York, YO10 5BR

Research and 
development 

Ordinary 100

Each trading entity is a trading division of the Group and offers commercial services to customers. 
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Notes to the financial statements continued
For the year ended 30 June 2022

16 Financial instruments
Group Company

2022  
£’000

2021  
£’000

2022  
£’000

2021  
£’000

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 

Inventories 420 90 – –

Trade and other receivables 1,866 864 3,055 3,142

Cash and cash equivalents 6,691 369 5,482 142

8,977 1,323 8,537 3,284

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 

Trade and other payables 2,126 1,679 1,330 914

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 1,308 254 1,241 107

3,434 1,933 2,571 1,021

All financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost.

17 Inventories
Group Company

2022  
£’000

2021  
£’000

2022  
£’000

2021  
£’000

Raw materials and consumables 420 81 – –

Work in progress – 9 – –

420 90 – –

Inventories are stated after provision for impairment of £nil (2021: £nil).

Inventory losses charged to the income statement amounted to £nil (2021: £nil).

The cost of inventory recognised as an expense in the current year was £490,000 (2021: £483,000). These costs were included 
in cost of sales. Inventories are charged to cost of sales when materials are consumed or contractual commitments are complete. 
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18 Trade and other receivables 
Group Company

2022  
£’000

2021  
£’000

2022  
£’000

2021  
£’000

Amounts falling due within one year:

Trade receivables 629 190 93 2

Allowance for expected credit losses – – – –

Trade receivables – net 629 190 93 2

Corporation tax recoverable 545 598 82 –

Other receivables 525 67 424 140

Prepayments 167 9 161 9

Amounts owed by Group undertakings – – 2,295 2,991

1,866 864 3,055 3,142

Amounts falling due after more than one year:

Other receivables 379 – 373 –

379 – 373 –

Amounts owed by Group undertakings are unsecured and interest-free. 

An impairment review has been undertaken at the statement of financial position date to assess whether the carrying amount 
of financial assets is deemed recoverable. A provision for impairment is made when there is objective evidence of impairment 
which is usually indicated by a delay in the expected cash flows or non-payment from customers. All trade receivable balances 
originate from contractual agreements with customers which were outstanding at the reporting date. Trade receivables are 
stated after an expected credit loss allowance of £nil (2021: £nil). There are no trade receivables that fall due after more than  
one year.

19 Current liabilities

Notes

Group Company

2022  
£’000

2021  
£’000

2022  
£’000

2021  
£’000

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 21 248 186 181 68

Trade payables 514 538 266 266

Other taxation and social security 105 80 105 75

Other payables 234 22 2 4

Accruals 959 543 754 485

Deferred income 314 496 203 84

2,374 1,865 1,511 982

The carrying amount of these liabilities equals their fair value. Deferred income relates to amounts outstanding under existing 
customer contracts where the delivery of service has not been completed at the reporting date.
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20 Non-current liabilities

Notes

Group Company

2022  
£’000

2021  
£’000

2022  
£’000

2021  
£’000

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 21 1,060 68 1,060 39

1,060 68 1,060 39

21 Interest-bearing borrowings 
The contractual terms of the Group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings are as follows:

Group Company

2022  
£’000

2021  
£’000

2022  
£’000

2021  
£’000

Current 

Obligations under leases 209 176 142 58

Other loans 39 10 39 10

248 186 181 68

Non-current 

Obligations under leases 1,060 29 1,060 –

Other loans – 39 – 39

1,060 68 1,060 39

Security of borrowings 
Lease liabilities are secured against the assets to which they relate. 
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22 Lease liabilities 
Group Company

2022  
£’000

2021  
£’000

2022  
£’000

2021  
£’000

Maturity analysis – contractual undiscounted  
cash flows

Within one year 303 190 232 62

Years two to five inclusive 1,208 29 1,208 –

After five years – – – –

Total undiscounted lease liabilities 1,511 219 1,440 62

Future finance charges (242) (14) (238) (4)

Discounted lease liabilities 1,269 205 1,202 58

Consisting of:

Non-current 1,060 29 1,060 –

Current 209 176 142 58

Total discounted lease liabilities 1,269 205 1,202 58

Amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the year/period are disclosed in note 13. 

The total cash outflow for leases during the year was £395,000 (2021: £252,000).

23 Provisions for liabilities
Group Company

2022  
£’000

2021  
£’000

2022  
£’000

2021  
£’000

Dilapidations 35 26 35 26

35 26 35 26

Movements on provisions:

Group Company

2022  
£’000

2021  
£’000

2022  
£’000

2021  
£’000

Dilapidations 

At 1 July 26 20 26 20

Additional provisions 9 6 9 6

At 30 June 35 26 35 26

A provision was made in a prior period by the Directors to cover the expected contractual commitments on termination of the 
licence agreement to occupy the premises where the Group is based.
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Notes to the financial statements continued
For the year ended 30 June 2022

24 Deferred tax liabilities
As at 30 June 2022, the Group had unrelieved tax losses of approximately £3,805,000 (2021: £2,680,000). A deferred tax  
asset of £723,000 (2021: £509,000) at 19% has not been recognised in respect of these losses due to uncertainty of timing  
of taxable profits. 

25 Cash and cash equivalents
Group Company

2022  
£’000

2021  
£’000

2022  
£’000

2021  
£’000

Cash and cash equivalents 6,691 369 5,482 142

26 Financial risk management
The Group’s financial instruments comprise cash and receivables and payables held at amortised cost that arise from its operations.

The main financial risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are liquidity risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency risk 
and credit risk. The Directors review and agree policies for managing each of these risks.

Liquidity risk
Management control and monitor the Group’s cash flow on a regular basis, including forecasting future cash flows, available 
bank and other credit facilities in comparison to the Group’s outstanding commitments on a regular basis to ensure that the 
Group has sufficient funds to meet the obligations of the Group as they fall due. 

Interest rate risk
The Group adopts a policy of ensuring that there is an appropriate mix of fixed and floating rates in managing its exposure to 
changes in interest rates on borrowings. There is no material exposure to changes in interest rates at the reporting date. 

Management regularly reviews the Group’s interest rate risk position and considers the requirement for any hedging instruments to 
mitigate risk as part of this regular monitoring. There were no such hedging instruments in place at the year-end (2021: none).

Foreign currency risk
The main currencies in which the Group trades are the Pound Sterling and the US Dollar. 

The Group is exposed in its trading operations to the risk of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and during the period 
the fluctuation in exchange rates has had an impact on reported results. The risk associated with foreign currency fluctuations 
is mitigated by holding foreign currency bank accounts. There was no significant exposure to foreign currency fluctuations at 
the reporting date.

Credit risk
Credit risk predominantly arises from trade receivables and cash and cash equivalents. Credit risk attributable to trade receivables is 
managed by monitoring the aggregate amount and duration of exposure to any one customer depending upon their credit rating. 
The amounts presented in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position are net of allowances for doubtful debts, estimated 
by the Group’s management based on prior experience and their assessment of the current economic environment. The Group 
has no issues with the impairment of debts at the reporting date. The historic trading activity and the collection of balances due 
from customers does not indicate that impairment risk will be significant in the future.

90 Aptamer Group PLC



27 Capital risk management
The Group's objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can provide 
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. The Group can implement a range of measures to alter the capital 
structure including altering the dividends paid to shareholders and arranging appropriate banking facilities. 

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (borrowing offset by cash and bank balances, see note 34) and equity 
(comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings).

The Directors of the Group review the capital structure on an ongoing basis. As part of this review the Directors consider the cost 
of capital and risks associated with each class of capital. 

Effective interest rates and maturity analysis 

1 April 2020

Effective 
interest rate 

%
Total  

£’000

One year  
or less  
£’000

1–2 years 
£’000

2–5 years 
£’000

More than  
5 years  
£’000

Cash and cash equivalents 0.0 293 – – – –

Right-of-use lease liabilities 8.0 161 130 27 4 –

132 130 27 4 –

30 June 2021

Effective 
interest rate 

%
Total  

£’000

One year  
or less  
£’000

1–2 years 
£’000

2–5 years 
£’000

More than  
5 years 
£’000

Cash and cash equivalents 0.0 369 – – – –

Right-of-use lease liabilities 8.0 204 176 28 – –

Other loans 2.5 49 10 39 – –

116 186 67 – –

30 June 2022

Effective 
interest rate 

%
Total  

£’000

One year  
or less  
£’000

1–2 years 
£’000

2–5 years 
£’000

More than  
5 years 
£’000

Cash and cash equivalents 0.0 6,691 – – – –

Right-of-use lease liabilities 8.0 1,269 209 335 725 –

Other loans 2.5 39 39 – – –

5,383 248 335 725 –

28 Retirement benefit schemes

Defined contribution schemes
2022  

£’000
2021  

£’000

Charge to income statement in respect of defined contribution schemes 28 28

A defined contribution pension scheme is operated for all qualifying employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately 
from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. Contributions totalling £7,043 (2021: £11,833) were payable to  
the fund at the balance sheet date.
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29 Issued share capital
Group and Company

2022  
£’000

2021  
£’000

Ordinary share capital 

Issued and fully paid 

69,022,594 (2021: 298,540,000) Ordinary shares of £0.001 each (2021: £0.0001 each) 69 30

69 30

On 11 October 2021 the Company allotted 158,000 Ordinary shares of £0.0001 each for a consideration of £0.03 per share.

On 29 November 2021 a total of 298,698,000 Ordinary shares of £0.0001 each were consolidated into 29,869,800 Ordinary 
shares of £0.001 each. An additional 29,869,800 Ordinary shares of £0.001 each were also allotted on that day. 

On 22 December 2021 the Company issued 9,202,094 Ordinary shares of £0.001 each for a consideration of £1.17 per share.

On 28 February 2022 the Company issued 70,900 Ordinary shares of £0.001 each for a consideration of £0.16 per share.

On 14 April 2022 the Company issued 10,000 Ordinary shares of £0.001 each for a consideration of £0.08 per share.

During the year the Company incurred £1,201,000 of transaction costs which have been offset against share premium.

On 22 September 2021 the Company passed a special resolution to cancel the total amount of the share premium account of the 
Company from £5,203,442 to £0, with the amount reduced credited to a reserve. 

30 Loss per share 

Year ended  
30 June 2022 

15-month  
period ended  
30 June 2021 

Basic loss per share 3.24p 3.92p

Diluted loss per share 3.24p 3.92p

Loss for the year/period £2,093,000 £2,312,000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in calculating the 
basic/diluted loss per share 64,546,622 58,970,318

The loss attributable to equity holders (holders of ordinary shares) of the Company for the purpose of calculating the fully 
diluted loss per share is identical to that used for calculating the loss per share. The exercise of share options would have the 
effect of reducing the loss per share and is therefore anti-dilutive under the terms of IAS 33 “Earnings per Share”.

31 Reserves
Retained earnings
Cumulative profit and loss net of distribution to owners.

Share premium 
Cumulative excess over nominal value of consideration received, net of directly attributable issue costs, for shares issued. 

Share-based payments reserve
Used to recognise the grant date fair value of options issued to employees but not exercised. 

Group reorganisation reserve
Difference between the consideration given and the net assets of acquired entities at the date of acquisition. 
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32 Share-based payments
The Group operates an executive unapproved share option scheme and an EMI employee share option scheme. The movement on 
share options issued was as follows:

Exercise price  
£ Options

At 1 April 2020 6,065

Issued in the period (unapproved share scheme) 0.3108 1,134

Issued in the period (EMI share option scheme) 0.3108 9,404

Lapsed in the period 0.3108 (649)

At 29 June 2021 15,954

Subdivision of shares of £0.1 to £0.0001 15,938,046

At 30 June 2021 15,954,000

Consolidation of shares of £0.0001 to £0.001 (14,358,600)

Bonus issue of shares at 1 for 2 1,595,400

At 29 November 2021 3,190,800

Issued in the period (unapproved share scheme) 1.1700 256,410

Issued in the period (EMI share option scheme) 0.6350 284,200

Lapsed in the period (EMI share option scheme) 0.6350 (1,000)

Exercised in the period (EMI share option scheme) 0.3108 (112,200)

Lapsed in the period (EMI share option scheme) 0.3108 (659,800)

At 30 June 2022 2,958,410

Share options outstanding at 30 June 2022 were:

Effective date of grant Expiry date 
Exercise price  

£ Options

Granted on 1 April 2015 (executive share option scheme) 21 November 2030 0.0768 118,600

Granted on 1 April 2016 (executive share option scheme) 21 November 2030 0.0768 118,200

Granted on 1 April 2017 (executive share option scheme) 21 November 2030 0.0768 236,800

Granted on 1 April 2018 (executive share option scheme) 21 November 2030 0.1554 138,000

Granted on 1 April 2019 (executive share option scheme) 21 November 2030 0.1554 96,200

Granted on 1 April 2020 (executive share option scheme) 29 June 2031 0.1554 44,000

Granted on 1 February 2021 (executive share option scheme) 29 June 2031 0.1554 182,600

Granted on 30 June 2021 (EMI share option scheme) 29 June 2031 0.1554 1,288,000

Granted on 31 July 2019 (EMI share option scheme) 31 July 2029 0.0768 196,400

Granted on 15 December 2021 (executive share option scheme) 14 December 2021 1.1700 256,410

Granted on 16 December 2021 (EMI share option scheme) 15 December 2031 0.6350 283,200

2,958,410

On 15 December 2021, the Company granted to SPARK a warrant to subscribe for up to 689,417 Ordinary Shares (representing 
1% of the Enlarged Share Capital) at the Placing Price. The exercise period commences on Admission and ends on the third 
anniversary of Admission. 

The fair value at grant date is determined using the Black-Scholes model and considers the exercise price, the term of the option, 
the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, and the risk-free interest rate for the term 
of the option.
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32 Share-based payments continued
Key assumptions used in respect of share-based payment charges for those options issued during the period are as follows:

30 June 2022 
SPARK warrant 

30 June 2022 
Executive share 

option scheme 

30 June 2022 
EMI share  

option scheme

Number of options 689,417 256,410 284,200

Exercise price £1.17 £1.17 £0.635

Share price at grant date £1.17 £1.17 £1.17

Expected volatility 50.00% 50.00% 50.00%

Time to exercise 3.00 years 2.50 years 2.34 years

Risk-free interest rate 0.47% 0.43% 0.47%

Option fair value £0.40 £0.36 £0.62

The total expense recognised in the income statement from equity-settled share-based payments is disclosed in note 4. 

33 Cash used in operations
Group Company 

2022  
£’000

2021  
£’000

2022  
£’000

2021  
£’000

Loss for the year/period after tax (2,093) (2,312) (4,689) (1,247)

Adjustments for: 

Taxation credit (545) (598) (82) (101)

Finance costs 62 38 30 8

Amortisation of intangible assets 22 24 28 18

Depreciation and impairment of tangible assets 432 301 343 212

Loss on disposal of tangible fixed assets 1 44 1 –

Equity-settled share-based payment expense 457 55 457 55

Increase in provisions 9 6 9 6

(1,655) (2,442) (3,903) (1,049)

Movements in working capital:

Increase in inventory (330) (20) – –

(Increase)/decrease in debtors (1,433) 104 (204) (1,359)

Increase in creditors 445 717 417 682

Cash used in operations (2,973) (1,641) (3,690) (1,726)
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34 Analysis of changes in net debt 
Group

1 July 2021  
£’000

Cash flows  
£’000

New leases  
£’000

Other non-cash 
changes  

£’000
30 June 2022 

£’000

Cash and cash equivalents 369 6,322 – – 6,691

Loans (49) 10 – – (39)

Lease liabilities (205) 395 (1,506) 47 (1,269)

115 6,727 (1,506) 47 5,383

1 April 2020 
£’000

Cash flows 
£’000

New leases 
£’000

Other non-cash 
changes  

£’000
30 June 2021 

£’000

Cash and cash equivalents 293 76 – – 369

Loans – (49) – – (49)

Lease liabilities (161) 252 – (296) (205)

132 279 – (296) 115

Company

1 July 2021 
£’000

Cash flows 
£’000

New leases 
£’000

Other non-cash 
changes  

£’000
30 June 2022 

£’000

Cash and cash equivalents 142 5,340 – – 5,482

Loans (49) 10 – – (39)

Lease liabilities (58) 238 (1,429) 47 (1,202)

35 5,588 (1,429) 47 4,241

1 April 2020 
£’000

Cash flows 
£’000

New leases 
£’000

Other non-cash 
changes  

£’000
30 June 2021 

£’000

Cash and cash equivalents 64 78 – – 142

Loans (2) (47) – – (49)

Lease liabilities (93) 234 – (199) (58)

(31) 265 – (199) 35

35 Controlling party
The Directors consider that there is no ultimate controlling party. 
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36 Related party transactions 
Transactions with related parties 
Key management personnel
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the Group, including the Directors of the Company.

The remuneration of key management personnel of the Group was:

Year ended  
30 June 2022 

£’000

15-month  
period ended  
30 June 2021  

£’000

Aggregate emoluments 1,397 442

Share-based payments 101 12

Value of Company contribution to defined contribution pension schemes 5 4

1,503 458

37 Capital commitment
The Group has entered into a contract at the year end to fit out leasehold premises amounting to £1.6 million.

38 Explanation of transition to IFRS
This is the first year that the Group and Company have presented its results under International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS). The last financial statements under UK GAAP were for the year ended 30 June 2021 and for the Company only. The date 
of transition to IFRS was 1 April 2020. Set out below are the changes in accounting policies which reconcile the loss for the year 
ended 30 June 2022 and the total equity at 1 April 2020 between UK GAAP as previously reported and IFRS. 

(a) IFRS 1: First-time Application of International Financial Reporting Standards
In accordance with IFRS 1, the Group is entitled to a number of voluntary and mandatory exemptions from full restatements 
which have been adopted as follows:

Property, plant, and equipment and intangible assets
The Group has elected to retain the carrying values under UK GAAP as the deemed cost at transition. The Directors considered 
that the value of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets in the Group was a good approximation to the fair value as 
at the date of transition.

Investments in subsidiaries
The carrying value of investments in subsidiaries under FRS 102 has been taken as the deemed cost at the date of transition to 
IFRS, which is permitted under IFRS 1.

Business combinations
The Directors have elected not to apply IFRS 3: Business Combinations to business combinations that took place before the 
transition to IFRS but instead have applied it prospectively from the transition date. This means that no retrospective reversal 
of accumulated goodwill can take place in accordance with IFRS 1. The carrying amount of goodwill at the transition date is the 
carrying amount under UK GAAP.

Share-based payment expense
IFRS 2: Share-based Payment has not been applied to equity-settled share-based payments granted on or before 7 November 
2002, nor has it been applied to share-based payments granted after 7 November 2002 that vested before the date of transition 
to IFRS standards.

96 Aptamer Group PLC



Leases
IFRS 16: Leases has optional transitional reliefs and practical expedients permitted for first-time adopters of IFRS, which have 
been applied as follows:

 — Determination of whether contracts existing at the date of transition contain leases based on an assessment of the facts 
and circumstances existing at that date, instead of determining retrospectively whether a contract contained a lease at the 
inception date of the contract;

 — Recognition and measurement of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets at the date of transition to IFRS. The lease liability 
is discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at the date of transition to IFRS, and the right-of-use asset is measured at 
an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease 
recognised in the statement of financial position immediately before the date of transition to IFRS; and

 — The use of a single discount rate has been applied to each portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics.

(b) Explanation of reconciling items between FRS 102 and IFRS
Leases
Under FRS 102 leases, where the Group is lessee, are treated as operating leases where appropriate and rentals charged on a 
straight-line basis. On adoption of IFRS 16, the Group recognised lease liabilities in relation to leases which were previously 
classified as operating leases under FRS 102, using the cumulative catch-up approach. These liabilities are measured at the 
present value of remaining lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of transition. 
8% was deemed to be a reasonable approximation of the incremental borrowing rate for all leases at the date of transition by 
the Directors.

The associated right-of-use assets for leases were measured at the amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount  
of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised in the statement of financial position as at the 
transition date.

IFRS 16 does not distinguish between operating leases and finance leases, unlike UK GAAP. As such, the liabilities, and assets in 
relation to finance leases which existed on the statement of financial position as at the transition date, have been transferred 
into the lease liabilities and right-of-use assets recognised at that date under IFRS.

Business combinations
IFRS 3 allows the use of the carrying amount of goodwill at the transition date to be the carrying amount under UK GAAP. Since at 
the transition date the goodwill amount was £nil, no goodwill amount was recognised under IFRS. 

Financial instruments
Under UK GAAP, bad debt provision is calculated on a specific basis per customer. Under IFRS, an “expected loss” impairment 
model applies, which requires a low allowance to be recognised based on expected credit losses. The Directors reviewed the 
existing bad debt provision in place and compared it with the values calculated under an “expected loss” impairment model. 
The conclusion was that there are no material adjustments which would be required as a result of the transition in this area.

Revenue recognition
IFRS 15 introduced a five-step recognition model for revenue which applies to all contracts with customers, regardless of whether 
it is a supply of goods or services. UK GAAP has separate recognition criteria for the sale of goods and services. The Directors 
reviewed the applicable revenue streams comparing the accounting under UK GAAP, to the expected accounting under the five-
step recognition model. The conclusion was that there are no material adjustments which would be required as a result of the 
transition in this area.
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38 Explanation of transition to IFRS continued
(b) Explanation of reconciling items between FRS 102 and IFRS continued
Reconciliation of equity under IFRS at transition date – Group 

At 1 April 2020

Company  
UK GAAP  

£’000

Consolidation 
and Group 

adjustments 
£’000

Group  
UK GAAP  

£’000

Share-based 
payments 

£’000
Patents  

£’000
Leases  
£’000

Group 
IFRS 

£’000

Assets

Non-current 

Investments 418 (418) – – – – –

Other intangible assets – – – – 19 – 19

Property, plant,  
and equipment 37 251 288 – – – 288

Right-of-use assets – – – – – 83 83

455 (167) 288 – 19 83 390

Current assets 

Inventories – 71 71 – – – 71

Trade and other receivables 1,784 (1,148) 636 – – – 636

Cash and cash equivalents 64 229 293 – – – 293

1,848 (848) 1,000 – – – 1,000

Total assets 2,303 (1,015) 1,288 – 19 83 1,390

Current liabilities (223) (783) (1,006) – – (88) (1,094)

Net current  
assets/(liabilities) 1,625 (1,631) (6) – – (88) (94)

Non-current liabilities (1) (26) (27) – – (4) (31)

Provisions for liabilities – (20) (20) – – – (20)

Net assets/(liabilities) 2,079 (1,844) 235 – 19 (9) 245

Equity 

Issued share capital 28 – 28 – – – 28

Share premium 3,088 – 3,088 – – – 3,088

Group reorganisation 
reserve – 185 185 – – – 185

Share-based  
payment reserve 44 – 44 (16) – – 28

(Accumulated losses)/
Retained earnings (1,081) (2,029) (3,110) 16 19 (9) (3,084)

Equity attributable  
to shareholders 2,079 (1,844) 235 – 19 (9) 245
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Reconciliation of equity under IFRS at transition date – Company

At 1 April 2020
UK GAAP 

£’000
Other 

 £’000

Share-based 
payments 

£’000
Patents 

£’000
Leases 
£’000

IFRS  
£’000

Assets

Non-current 

Investments 418 – – – – 418

Intangible assets – – – 15 – 15

Property, plant and equipment 37 – – – – 37

Right-of-use assets – – – – 83 83

455 – – 15 83 553

Current assets 

Trade and other receivables 1,784 – – – – 1,784

Cash and cash equivalents 64 – – – – 64

1,848 – – – – 1,848

Total assets 2,303 – – 15 83 2,401

Current liabilities (223) (12) – – (93) (328)

Net current assets/(liabilities) 1,625 (12) – – (93) (1,520)

Non-current liabilities (1) – – – – (1)

Provisions for liabilities – (20) – – – (20)

Net assets 2,079 (32) – 15 (10) 2,052

Equity 

Issued share capital 28 – – – – 28

Share premium 3,088 – – – – 3,088

Share-based payment reserve 44 – (16) – – 28

(Accumulated losses)/Retained earnings (1,081) (32) 16 15 (10) (1,092)

Total equity 2,079 (32) – 15 (10) 2,052
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Notes to the financial statements continued
For the year ended 30 June 2022

38 Explanation of transition to IFRS continued
(b) Explanation of reconciling items between FRS 102 and IFRS continued
Reconciliation of equity under IFRS at 30 June 2021 – Group 

Company  
UK GAAP 

£’000

Consolidation 
and Group 

adjustments 
£’000

Group  
UK GAAP 

£’000 

Share-based 
payments 

£’000
Patents 

£’000
Leases 
£’000

Group 
IFRS 

£’000

Assets

Non-current 

Investments 418 (418) – – – – –

Intangible assets 106 – 106 – 116 – 222

Property, plant  
and equipment 89 379 468 – – (184) 284

Right-of-use assets – – – – – 235 235

613 (39) 574 – 116 51 741

Current assets 

Inventories – 90 90 – – – 90

Trade and other receivables 3,142 (2,278) 864 – – – 864

Cash and cash equivalents 142 227 369 – – – 369

3,284 (1,961) 1,323 – – – 1,323

Total assets 3,897 (2,000) 1,897 – 116 51 2,064

Current liabilities (924) (884) (1,808) – – (57) (1,865)

Net current  
assets/(liabilities) 2,360 (2,845) (485) – – (57) (542)

Non-current liabilities (39) (29) (68) – – – (68)

Provisions for liabilities – (26) (26) – – – (26)

Net assets 2,934 (2,939) (5) – 116 (6) 105

Equity 

Issued share capital 30 – 30 – – – 30

Share premium 5,203 – 5,203 – – – 5,203

Group reorganisation 
reserve – 185 185 – – – 185

Share-based payment 
reserve 83 – 83 – – – 83

(Accumulated losses)/
Retained earnings (2,382) (3,124) (5,506) – 116 (6) (5,396)

Total equity 2,934 (2,939) (5) – 116 (6) 105
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Reconciliation of equity under IFRS at 30 June 2021 – Company 

UK GAAP 
£’000

Dilapidations 
provision 

£’000

Share-based 
payments 

£’000
Patents 

£’000
Leases 
£’000

IFRS 
£’000

Assets

Non-current 

Investments 418 – – – – 418

Intangible assets 106 – – 76 – 182

Property, plant and equipment 89 – – – – 89

Right-of-use assets – – – – 51 51

613 – – 76 51 740

Current assets 

Trade and other receivables 3,142 – – – – 3,142

Cash and cash equivalents 142 – – – – 142

3,284 – – – – 3,284

Total assets 3,897 – – 76 51 4,024

Current liabilities (924) – – – (58) (982)

Net current assets/(liabilities) 2,360 – – – (58) 2,302

Non-current liabilities (39) – – – – (39)

Provisions for liabilities – (26) – – – (26)

Net assets 2,934 (26) – 76 (7) 2,977

Equity 

Issued share capital 30 – – – – 30

Share premium 5,203 – – – – 5,203

Share-based payment reserve 83 – – – – 83

(Accumulated losses)/Retained earnings (2,382) (26) – 76 (7) (2,339)

Total equity 2,934 (26) – 76 (7) 2,977
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For the year ended 30 June 2022

Notes to the financial statements continued

38 Explanation of transition to IFRS continued
(b) Explanation of reconciling items between FRS 102 and IFRS continued
Reconciliation of income statement under IFRS for the year ended 30 June 2021 – Group 

15-month period ended  
30 June 2021

Company UK 
GAAP  

£’000

Consolidation 
and Group 

adjustments 
£’000

Group UK 
GAAP  

£’000

Share-based 
payments 

£’000
Patents 

£’000
Leases 
£’000

Group 
IFRS 

£’000

Revenue 185 1,415 1,600 – – – 1,600

Cost of sales (393) (534) (927) – – – (927)

Gross (loss)/profit (208) 881 673 – – – 673

Administrative expenses (2,707) (712) (3,419) (16) 107 202 (3,126)

Other operating income/(loss) 1,607 (1,602) 5 – – – 5

Operating (loss)/profit  
before depreciation  
and amortisation (1,308) (1,433) (2,741) (16) 107 202 (2,448)

Depreciation (including  
loss on disposal of assets) (23) (129) (152) – – (193) (345)

Amortisation of  
intangible assets (13) – (13) – (11) – (24)

Share-based  
payment expense (55) – (55) – – – (55)

Operating (loss)/profit (1,399) (1,562) (2,961) (16) 96 9 (2,872)

Finance costs (3) (30) (33) – – (5) (38)

(Loss)/profit before taxation (1,402) (1,592) (2,994) (16) 96 4 (2,910)

Taxation 101 497 598 – – – 598

(Loss)/profit for the period (1,301) (1,095) (2,396) (16) 96 4 (2,312)
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